Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Isabelle Flinn

Date

Identification of Mitigation Measures to Prevent Norovirus Outbreaks in Indoor Food Production Facilities via Quantitative Microbial Risk Assessment Modeling

By

Isabelle Flinn Master of Public Health

Department of Epidemiology

Juan S. Leon, PhD, MPH Committee Chair

Identification of Mitigation Measures to Prevent Norovirus Outbreaks in Indoor Food Production Facilities via Quantitative Microbial Risk Assessment Modeling

By

Isabelle Flinn

Bachelor of Science McGill University 2019

Thesis Committee Chair: Juan S. Leon, PhD, MPH

An abstract of A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Epidemiology 2022

Abstract

Identification of Mitigation Measures to Prevent Norovirus Outbreaks in Indoor Food Production Facilities via Quantitative Microbial Risk Assessment Modeling

By Isabelle Flinn

Norovirus is the leading cause of acute gastroenteritis in the United Sates with outbreaks of norovirus often linked to contaminated food. Infected food production workers may contaminate their work environment posing a risk of infection to their fellow workers. The purpose of this study was to quantify the cumulative risk of norovirus infection for a susceptible food production worker exposed to specific exposure events (fecal and vomit) and transmission pathways (fomite and aerosol). Additionally, the impact of mitigation measures (hand hygiene, surface disinfection, and masking) on the risk of norovirus infection for a susceptible food production worker were evaluated. A Quantitative Microbial Risk Assessment Model was created in R using the mc2d package for two-dimensional Monte Carlo simulation and was iterated over 10,000 simulations. Fomite and aerosol-mediated norovirus transmission pathways were examined for an infected worker experiencing either repeated fecal (fomite) or a single vomit (aerosol, fomite) event. In the absence of mitigation measures, the risk of norovirus infection associated with an 8-hour cumulative exposure varied by exposure event: fecal scenario (22%), and vomit scenario (0.53%). Compared to no mitigation measures, combined intervention utilization (hand washing, glove use, surface disinfection, and masking) resulted in a maximum reduction in the risk of infection of 99% in the fecal scenario and 96% in the vomit scenario. These findings provide insight into variation in the risk of norovirus infection by exposure event and transmission pathway, with exposure to norovirus contamination from fecal events posing the greatest risk. The findings of our model can be leveraged by the food production industry to minimize the infection risk associated with specific norovirus exposure events and transmission pathways through the prioritization of mitigation measures.

Identification of Mitigation Measures to Prevent Norovirus Outbreaks in Indoor Food Production Facilities via Quantitative Microbial Risk Assessment Modeling

By

Isabelle Flinn

Bachelor of Science McGill University 2019

Thesis Committee Chair: Juan S. Leon, PhD, MPH

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Epidemiology 2022

Acknowledgement

I would like to express my sincere appreciation and thanks to Dr. Leon for his guidance and expertise throughout the completion of this thesis. I would also like to thank Julia Sobolik MS, MPH, PhD Candidate, for her insight and input throughout the model development processes. Through the mentorship of both Dr. Leon and Julia I have grown in my ability to address public health problems using analytical frameworks.

Table of Contents

1. LITERATURE REVIEW	1
1.1 NOROVIRUS BURDEN OF DISEASE IN THE UNITED STATES	1
1.2 NOROVIRUS OUTBREAKS	2
1.3 IMPLICATIONS OF NOROVIRUS OUTBREAKS AMONG FOOD WORKERS	4
1.4 TRANSMISSION ROUTES OF NOROVIRUS	6
1.4.1 Foodborne Transmission	6
1.4.2 Waterborne Transmission	8
1.4.3 Fomite Mediated Transmission	8
1.4.4 Person-to-Person Transmission	9
1.4.5 Exposure Routes Relevant to Food Production Activities on the Produce Production Floor	10
1.5 MITIGATION MEASURES TO PROTECT WORKERS FROM NOROVIRUS INFECTION	11
1.6 QUANTITATIVE MICROBIAL RISK ASSESSMENT FRAMEWORKS APPLIED TO WORKER HEALTH	
1.7 NEED, OBJECTIVES, AND SIGNIFICANCE OF THE PRESENT STUDY	14
2. METHODS	16
2.1 Model Overview & Structure	16
2.2 DATA SOURCES	
2.3 TRANSMISSION FROM A FECAL EVENT	19
2.3.1 Contamination of Infected Worker Hands and Fomite Reservoirs	19
2.3.2 Fomite Transmission Modeling	
2.3.2.1 The Restroom Environment & Production Floor Door Handle	
2.3.2.2 Product Boxes	
2.3.3 Viral Dose	
2.4 TRANSMISSION FROM A VOMIT EVENT	
2.4.1 Aerosol Transmission Modeling	
2.4.2 Fomite Transmission Modeling	
2.5 INTERVENTIONS	
2.6 KISK ASSESSMENT	
2.7 SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS	
3. MODELING RESULTS	32
3.1 Risk of Infection in Fecal Event Module	32
3.2 RISK OF INFECTION IN VOMIT EVENT MODULE	33
3.3 EFFECTS OF HAND HYGIENE INTERVENTIONS ON REDUCING INFECTION RISK	33
3.4 EFFECTS OF SURFACE DISINFECTION ON REDUCING INFECTION RISK	34
3.5 EFFECTS OF SURGICAL FACE MASK USE ON REDUCING INFECTION RISK	
3.6 EFFECTS OF COMBINATION INTERVENTION UTILIZATION ON REDUCING INFECTION RISK	
3.7 Sensitivity Analysis	
4. DISCUSSION	
4.1 RISK OF NOROVIRUS INFECTION DIFFERS BY EXPOSURE EVENT AND TRANSMISSION PATHWAYS	
4.1.1 Risk of Norovirus Infection from Exposure to Repeated Fecal Events	40
4.1.2 Risk of Norovirus Infection from a Vomit Exposure Event	40
4.2 RISK OF NOROVIRUS INFECTION IS REDUCED DIFFERENTIALLY BY INTERVENTION TYPE	41
4.4 MODELING STRENGTHS, LIMITATIONS, & FUTURE DIRECTIONS	45
4.5 CONCLUSIONS & PUBLIC HEALTH RECOMMENDATIONS	47
5. BIBLIOGRAPHY	49
6. TABLES AND FIGURES	61
TARLE 1. PADAMETEDS, VALUES, AND DOORARILITV DISTDIDUTIONS USED IN THE OMD 4. MODELS	61
FIGURE 1. NOROVIRUS OMRA SCHEMATIC FOR FECAL AND VOMIT EXPOSURE PATHWAVS	
The second states and	

FIGURE 2. RISK OF NOROVIRUS INFECTION ACROSS TWO MODELED EXPOSURE PATHWAYS.	. 68
FIGURE 3. REDUCTION IN NOROVIRUS INFECTION RISK ATTRIBUTED TO HAND HYGIENE INTERVENTIONS	. 69
FIGURE 4. REDUCTION IN NOROVIRUS INFECTION RISK ATTRIBUTED TO SURFACE DISINFECTION	. 70
FIGURE 5. REDUCTION IN NOROVIRUS INFECTION RISK ATTRIBUTED TO USE OF A SURGICAL FACE MASK	. 71
FIGURE 6. REDUCTION IN NOROVIRUS INFECTION RISK ATTRIBUTED TO USE OF COMBINED INTERVENTIONS	. 72
FIGURE 7. FECAL EVENT MODULE SPEARMAN'S RHO CORRELATION COEFFICIENTS	. 73
FIGURE 8. VOMIT EVENT MODULE SPEARMAN'S RHO CORRELATION COEFFICIENTS	. 74

1. Literature Review

1.1 Norovirus Burden of Disease in the United States

Norovirus is the leading cause acute gastroenteritis (AGE) in the United States [1, 2]. Norovirus was first identified in 1972 [3] and has continued to cause disease with increasing frequency of outbreaks in the US with 364 reported outbreaks in 2008 to 2,429 reported outbreaks in 2018 [4]. Norovirus is known to display seasonal variability with 71-82% of outbreaks occurring in the winter months [5-7]. In the US, an estimated 19-21 million cases of vomiting and diarrhea are attributed to norovirus infections each year [2, 8]. This corresponds to over 2 million outpatient clinic visits, 465,000 emergency department visits, more than 100 thousand hospitalizations and 900 deaths each year [8]. The lack of long-term and cross immunity contributes to norovirus' ability to cause repeat infection and illness [9, 10]. It has been estimated that everyone in the US will experience five norovirus related illnesses in their lifetime [2].

While norovirus is the leading cause of AGE in the US, the actual disease burden of norovirus is likely underestimated [8]. There are two reasons for that under estimation of cases. One, symptoms usually begin 12-48hr after exposure and last from 1-3 days [11, 12]. Due to the short duration of symptoms, many infections go untested and un-identified by local health departments [2]. Compounding the issue of under estimation of cases is the fact that there are currently no individual case reporting requirements [2, 13]. In an effort to increase reporting and access to norovirus outbreak data, the Centers of Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) developed the National Outbreak Reporting System (NORS) in 2009 [14]. In the same year, the CDC established a norovirus outbreak laboratory surveillance network, CaliciNet. This laboratory network includes federal, state, and local public health laboratories in the US [13, 14].

Both of these systems provide valuable data on and surveillance of norovirus outbreaks across the US.

1.2 Norovirus Outbreaks

Outbreaks of norovirus are common with approximately 2,500 reported outbreaks in the US each year [8]. Outbreaks of norovirus occur in a variety of settings including, healthcare facilities, restaurants and food cratering settings, schools from childcare to university settings, and on cruise ships [15-17]. In the US, norovirus outbreaks are often linked to contaminated food with approximately 16% of outbreaks being traced back to a food source [18]. From 1998 to 2013, contamination of fresh produce resulted in over 400 reported outbreaks [19]. Other foods including delicatessen meats, wedding cakes, and a variety ready to eat foods such as sandwiches and salads have all been implicated in outbreaks of norovirus [20-22]. Food handlers are often the source of food contamination in these outbreaks [19-21, 23, 24]. In the case of the delicatessen meat outbreak, 137 persons became ill [20]. The meat in question had been sliced by a food production facility worker one day after recovering from gastroenteritis. After preparation by the infected worker, the meat was vacuum-packed, frozen, and subsequently consumed by cases. Norovirus sequences were identified in the stool samples obtained from several cases and from the meat packaging [20]. In another investigation of a norovirus outbreak, 332 cases were traced back to 46 weddings occurring over the same weekend. All the weddings in question had wedding cakes from the same bakery. It was discovered that two bakery employees had experience a norovirus likely illness during the week leading up to the wedding. Identical norovirus sequences were identified from cases and an ill bakery employee [21].

Norovirus outbreaks may be due to contamination at specific steps along the farm to fork chain [25, 26]. The farm to fork chain encompasses the pathway and production steps that food produced on farms follows from the farm to the consumer's "fork". This pathway can be conceptualized in four stages: farm production, processing, distribution, and consumer, with contamination most likely to occur during the first, second, and final stage [27]. The first stage takes place on the farm and contamination can occur during pre- or post-harvest process. Preharvest norovirus contamination can occur from use of contaminated irrigation water [28]. Postharvest contamination can occur from contact with the contaminated hands of a harvester [29]. In a review by Bozkurt et al., the main source of preharvest and postharvest contamination was due to infected food handlers [30]. The second stage takes place at food production facilities where the food undergoes processing and packaging. Contamination can occur from contact with the contaminated hands of a production worker [31]. One study identified norovirus on 31% of field and packinghouse worker hands and on 30% of green bell papers handled and packaged by these workers [31]. A systematic review by Van Pelt et al. found the median prevalence of norovirus on farm produce (e.g. raspberries, tomatoes, lettuce) to be 30% across multiple countries including US, Mexico, Poland and Spain to name a few [32]. The third stage is the distribution of food to the point of sale or transport to storage prior to distribution. Currently there are no reports of norovirus contamination during transport to storage or distribution available. The final consumer stage takes place at the consumers place of food preparation and consumption. Contamination at this stage can occur from contact with the contaminated hands of the consumer or contaminated preparation surfaces [28].

Despite the documented presence of norovirus in the food production facility setting and the documented presence of infected workers there is no available information on norovirus outbreaks among food production workers. Given the low infectious dose [33] and various modes of transmission of norovirus [34] it is likely that transmission and outbreaks are occurring in the food production facility setting. Why there are no reported outbreaks in food production facility setting is unclear. It is possible that hesitancy to report illness exists among food production workers. Carpenter et al. found that restaurant workers often reported not wanting to burden the restaurant by leaving their co-workers short staffed as well as fear of losing their job if they could not work as reasons for working while sick [35]. Similar sentiments may be at play in the food production facility setting and may act as deterrents to reporting illness. It is also possible that cases are not reported because they are going undetected due to the short duration of symptoms [11].

1.3 Implications of Norovirus Outbreaks Among Food Workers

Sporadic norovirus cases and norovirus outbreaks have a significant economic impact. In the US, Bartsch et al. estimate that sporadic norovirus cases and outbreaks incurs 10.6 billion dollars in cost to each year [36]. Productivity loss is the largest driver of cost accounting for 89% of total costs. It has been estimated that foodborne outbreaks are responsible for 2.3 billion dollars in cost to society annually [37]. Mitigation measure to reduce food contamination along the farm to fork chain have been prioritized [38-42]. There are currently no estimates of industry specific cost and, as such, the impact of norovirus outbreaks among the food industry, such as in the food production setting, is unknown. The continuing COVID-19 pandemic has, however, made it clear that significant viral outbreaks, like norovirus, in the food production setting can have large scale economic, supply chain, and workforce impacts [43, 44].

For infected food workers, norovirus not only impacts their health but also their livelihood as they are unable to work due to furlough regulations in place to protect public health. The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) Food Safety Modernization Act requires that individuals be excluded from working in settings where their presence may result in contamination of produce or food contact surfaces [45]. This regulation applies to ill food production workers and often results in worker exclusion from work for a minimum of 48 hours after symptoms have resolved [46-48]. Studies have shown that worker furlough can avert a significant number of norovirus infections. One study determined that 75% of norovirus infections could be averted in a retail food setting with worker furloughs until 24 hours after symptom resolution relative to the baseline model [49]. Yang et al. estimated that 12.7 million US norovirus cases could be averted annually with 100% compliance with food worker furlough until 48 hours after symptom resolution [48]. While important to promote worker health and food safety, these furloughs may also act to deter reporting of illness due to the loss of work hours and thereby loss of income for workers when companies are not able to provide paid sick leave.

The potential financial and health impacts of norovirus infection for food production workers, as well as the potential for infected workers to infect susceptible co-workers and contaminate food products with norovirus necessitate the quantification of the risk of transmission of norovirus and identification risk mitigation measures in these setting. Mitigation measure will serve to protect worker health as well as increase food safety. Protecting workers from being infected with norovirus reduces the risk of norovirus contamination of food at the production level and decreases the potential for norovirus outbreaks among consumers and the broader community. This reduction in norovirus outbreaks and community transmission is important for maintaining broader community health and preventing economic burden due to illness from norovirus.

1.4 Transmission Routes of Norovirus

Norovirus is highly infectious and is transmitted via the fecal oral route as well as through infectious vomitus [28]. An individual is exposed to norovirus by ingesting norovirus contaminated fecal or vomitus particles of a norovirus infected individual. With an infectious dose of as few as 18 viral particles needed to cause infection, contamination of food, water, and surfaces may not be readily apparent [33]. Furthermore, this dose is easily achieved for a susceptible individual as infected individuals have been found to shed billions viral particles per gram of stool [50]. Shedding of viral particles can begin before symptom onset or in the absence of symptoms, as is the cases in asymptomatic infections, and in some cases can last up to 8 weeks after infection [50]. Norovirus is also a very hardy virus able to withstand freezing to 140-degrees Fahrenheit (60°C) temperatures [51, 52]. This ability to withstand such a wide temperature range contributes to norovirus ability to persist on surfaces and survive kills steps during food production and preparation [30]. There are many modes through which exposure to norovirus can occur including consumption of contaminated food, water, contact with contaminated fomites, as well as person-to-person transmission [34].

1.4.1 Foodborne Transmission

There are many modes through which exposure to norovirus can occur including consumption of contaminated food. Feces and vomitus of infected individuals are the source are norovirus contamination of food. Infected food handlers are often the main source of contamination of food products. According to the CDC, 70% of reported food related outbreaks are caused by an infected food worker [23, 24]. There are several possible modes for the contamination of food including contact with an infected individual, such as the contaminated hands of infected food worker, contact with contaminated surfaces, such as contaminated food processing or preparation surfaces, and use of contaminated water, such as contaminated irrigation water or ground water [20, 31, 53, 54]. Contaminated food, if consumed, can go on to cause infection in the individual. In two different studies, Verhoef et al. found that approximately 1 in 7 norovirus outbreaks are attributed to food and an estimated 7% of foodborne norovirus outbreaks are part of an international outbreak [18, 55].

Contamination of food, especially ready to eat produce, in the food production setting is an important concern. Many produce products are ready-to-eat and if contaminated with norovirus can cause infection in consumers. Food handlers, contaminated water, and fruit pickers have been implicated as the source of contamination that lead to several outbreaks [30]. The washing, freezing, and frozen storage process that produce, such as frozen berries, go through during food production are not able to inactivate or remove norovirus [30]. It has been reported that 54% of produce associated outbreaks are caused by norovirus [19]. From 1983-2018, norovirus was the most common cause of reported berry related outbreaks, implicated in 46 outbreaks with over 15,800 cases globally [30]. This highlights the importance of reducing the opportunity for contamination events in the food processing and production setting as these goods if contaminated can seed local and even international outbreaks [20, 21, 30, 55].

1.4.2 Waterborne Transmission

There are many modes through which exposure to norovirus can occur including consumption of contaminated water. Transmission of norovirus via water can occur when contaminated water is ingested or used in the produce growing or production process which is later consumed. Water may become contaminated with infectious norovirus fecal matter when human sewage is able to mix with the water source [56]. This can occur when there is a leak in a septic tank, when water is not properly treated, or if an infected person vomits or defecates in the water [28]. Recreational, drinking, and farm irrigation water can be contaminated with norovirus [28, 57]. If the contaminated water is ingested either directly through drinking or indirectly by consuming ready to eat foods grown or prepared with contaminated water, norovirus infection in the host can occur [58]. It has been shown that norovirus can remain infectious for at least 61 days and can be detected for over three years in ground water [59].

1.4.3 Fomite Mediated Transmission

There are many modes through which exposure to norovirus can occur including contact with contaminated fomites. Fomite mediated transmission of norovirus may occur when a person or food comes in contract with a contaminated surface or object and that contamination is ingested by the individual. Contamination of fomites occurs when either fecal matter or vomitus of an infected individual lands on or is transferred to the fomite. The role of fomites in norovirus transmission has been documented in several outbreaks including those in hotels, long term care facilities, cruise ships, and schools [54, 60-64]. A report of multiple outbreaks occurring on the same cruise ship over several sequential cruises indicated that contamination of ship surfaces was likely perpetuating the outbreaks [64]. Contaminated computer equipment was identified as contributing to norovirus transmission during an outbreak at an elementary school [63]. Due to its high stability, norovirus can persist even after an outbreak has ended and cause new infections in individuals who come in contact with a contaminated surface [65]. In the food production setting, contaminated fomites can contaminate food products as well as lead to infection in food workers.

1.4.4 Person-to-Person Transmission

There are many modes through which exposure to norovirus can occur including personto-person transmission. Person-to-person transmission is recognized as the most common mode of transmission of norovirus [28]. Person-to-person transmission of norovirus occurs when a susceptible individual is directly exposed to the fecal matter or vomitus of an infected individual. This can occur through direct contact with contamination on the infected individual resulting in contamination of the susceptible individuals' hands and subsequent ingestion of viral particles by the susceptible individual. Alternatively, the susceptible individual can be exposed to infectious bodily fluids during expulsion from the infected individual leading to subsequent ingestion of infectious fluids. Person-to-person transmission contrasts with the other routes of transmission in that it does not involve an intermediary reservoir between the infected and susceptible individuals like food, water, and fomite mediated transmission.

One mode of person-to-person transmission via exposure to infectious fecal matter occurs when a susceptible individual is exposed to and ingests infected fecal matter. When proper hand hygiene is not practiced by an infected individual, norovirus particles can remain on the individuals' hands [28]. This contamination can be transmitted to a susceptible individual through direct hand to hand contact or contact between the contaminated hand and another body part of the susceptible person. This contamination may then be ingested by the susceptible person transferring the contamination into their mouth.

Another mode of person-to-person transmission via exposure to infectious vomitus occurs when vomit droplets or aerosols are ingested by a susceptible individual [28]. Exposure to vomitus may occur unexpectedly as some infected individuals go from feeling fine to projectile vomiting in a matter of minutes [66]. The latter event can lead to the exposure of individuals, who are nearby, via exposure to vomitus droplets or aerosols. Several studies in hospitals have identified norovirus RNA in the air inside as well as outside infected patient rooms at various intervals after the patient experienced a vomiting event [67, 68]. Another study supporting the possibility of airborne spread of norovirus found that housekeepers who walked through or visited the emergency department during an outbreak had a 4 times greater risk of becoming ill [69]. Potential exposure to aerosol mediated transmission is not limited to hospitals. During an outbreak investigation at a hotel restaurant, it was determined that a vomiting event by a diner resulted in aerosol mediated transmission of norovirus as diners further away for the ill diner were less likely to be cases in the outbreak [66].

1.4.5 Exposure Routes Relevant to Food Production Activities on the Produce Production Floor

While there are many modes of transmission of norovirus, via contaminated food, water, fomites, or person-to-person, this analysis will only explore transmission via contact with contaminated fomites and person-to-person transmission on a produce production floor. A produce production floor is the space in produce processing facilities where raw agricultural materials undergoes processing, transformation into final product, and packaging [70].

Specifically, we are interested in fomite mediated transmission that occurs when a susceptible worker touches packaging contaminated by an upstream infected worker along the production line. We will also consider fomite mediated transmission via contact with a contaminated door handle of a door to the production area. The other scenario we will consider will be a vomiting event in which the susceptible worker will be exposed to aerosolized vomit and fomite mediated transmission from vomit contamination of the conveyer belt. For both these scenarios we will identify mitigation measure to reduce the risk of transmission to the susceptible worker.

1.5 Mitigation Measures to Protect Workers from Norovirus Infection

Federal guidelines and legislation provide guidance and requirements for mitigation measure to protect both worker health and food safety. The Occupational Safety Health Administration (OSHA) provide guidelines for industry aimed at protecting worker health. OSHA requires that workers have ready access to handwashing facilities, personal protective equipment, and EPA-registered surface disinfectants [39, 40, 42]. The requirements laid out by OSHA serve a dual function of protecting both worker health and enhancing food safety. Other regulatory agencies, such as the FDA, provide guidance and legislation that is aimed at enhancing food safety, however these guidelines often indirectly function to protect worker health. The FDA food safety modernization act (FSMA), enacted in 2011, as well as the Produce Safety Rule and Preventive Controls for Human Food (PCHF), both part of the FSMA enacted in 2015, set forth rules and standards aimed at minimizing contamination of fresh and processed produce [38, 71]. These federal regulations reduce foodborne disease risks thereby enhancing the safety of the US food supply [71]. The FSMA outlines requirement for workers handling produce including hygiene, training, and exclusion of ill workers [41, 45]. These requirements not only act to enhance food safety but also to promote worker health.

In accordance with these federal regulations, food production companies employ measures to both protect worker health and mitigate the contamination of produce during production. Mitigation measures that have been identified by studies as impactful for the prevention of norovirus contamination in the retail and food production setting include proper hand hygiene, gloving, and worker furlough [72, 73]. Each of these measures helps disrupt different norovirus transmission pathways. Hand hygiene and gloving disrupt the potential for contamination of foods, fomites, and person-to-person transmission. By preventing contamination, these mitigation measures prevent exposure of susceptible individuals to contaminated foods, fomites, and other individuals. Exclusion of ill workers prevents food, fomite-mediated, and person-to-person transmission by excluding the infected individual from the food production environment.

1.6 Quantitative Microbial Risk Assessment Frameworks Applied to Worker Health

QMRA modeling allows for the characterization of the risk of infection, for the modeled scenarios, using a dose-response model [74]. QMRA models have been applied to many different pathogens and scenarios [73, 75-77]. Surprisingly, few QMRAs have been applied to worker health. One QMRA model quantified the risk associated with inhalation of bioaerosols contaminated with human adenovirus across different occupational settings to identify which setting posed the highest risk of infection [78]. The QMRA model found that of the occupational settings evaluated, including wastewater systems, solid waste landfills, and toilets in healthcare settings and offices, toilets posed the greatest probability of infection at nearly 100% probability

based on exposure time and setting [78]. Over the course of the COVID-19 pandemic, much more attention has been paid to worker health particularly in the food production setting. Two different QMRA models evaluated the risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection, via different transmission pathways, for food production workers and found that evaluated mitigation measures (physical distancing, hand hygiene, surface disinfection, mask use, air exchange rate) were able to reduce the risk of infection to workers below 1% for combined intervention use [79, 80]. No norovirus QMRA models have been applied to food production worker health.

QMRA modeling is comprised of four steps, hazard identification, exposure assessment, dose-response, and risk characterization [81]. The first step, hazard identification, involves identifying the relevant parameters of pathogen and the human illness of concern [81, 82]. This is followed by exposure assessment which involves determining the dose that someone will be exposed to. This dose is determined through thousands of successive simulations of the probabilistic model that represents the exposure, in this case transmission, pathways of interest [81, 82]. Next a dose response model is selected. The risk is characterized by feeding the calculated dose into the dose response model which will output the risk a person has of becoming infected from the modeled scenarios.

QMRA models not only allow for the quantification of infection risk but the identification of effective risk reduction measures such as proper hand hygiene, personal protective equipment (PPE) use, surface disinfection [73]. By incorporating risk reduction measures in the QMRA model structure, the output risk will represent the risk of infection for an individual who utilizes these risk reduction measures. This allows for the theoretical evaluation of mitigation measures and quantification of the most impactful combination of measures. While the QMRA modeling frameworks allows for a great deal of flexibility in modeled scenarios,

models are limited by unreliable model parameters [83]. Parameter variability, the heterogeneity in a parameter value, and uncertainty, lack of knowledge of the true value, can be addressed through sensitivity analysis which quantifies the propagation of variability and uncertainty. This allows for the identification of influential parameters on the infection risk output by the model [83-85].

The QMRA framework has been used to quantify the risk of norovirus infections along the farm-to-fork chain [29, 73, 76, 77]. The QMRA framework is able to quantify the cumulative risk from multiple exposure pathways along the farm to fork chain. The QMRA framework is also able to evaluate mitigation measures at various steps along the farm to fork chain. Studies quantifying infection risk along the farm-to-fork chain usually focus on the risk of infection to consumers due to contamination of food from environmental sources during food production or from infected food workers [29, 49, 73, 76, 77]. Mitigation measures are often evaluated in these contexts for their ability to reduce food contamination and thus the ability to reduce the risk of infection to consumers. At the time of writing, no studies have quantified the risk of norovirus infection to produce production workers working on the production floor with an infected worker or the impact of mitigation measures on this risk.

1.7 Need, Objectives, and Significance of the Present Study

Thus, the need of this study is to prevent norovirus outbreaks among produce workers in produce production facilities. To address this need, the objectives of this study are to 1) identify the cumulative risk associated with specific norovirus transmission pathways on the food production floor, 2) quantify the impact of combined mitigation strategies on the risk of norovirus infection among food production floor workers.

This work will highlight the importance of protecting worker health in maintaining the safety of the US food supply. By fulfilling objective 1 and quantifying the cumulative risk, industry and regulatory agencies will be able to better inform their guidance and policies around worker health. Depending on the magnitude of risk, new policies may be needed to enhance worker health and safety. By fulfilling objective 2 and identifying the impact of mitigation strategies, this research will help industry and regulatory agencies understand the effectiveness of existing mitigation measure and requirements. Fulfilling both objective 1 and 2 will aid the food production industry in preventing norovirus outbreaks among food production workers. This could be particularly important over the next year as norovirus cases have been lower over the course of the COVID-19 pandemic, compared to prior to the pandemic, and any immunity that may have existed may be reduced thus creating an environment with heightened outbreak potential [86, 87].

2. Methods

2.1 Model Overview & Structure

Model conceptualization was informed by norovirus QMRA and quantitative exposure models, SARS-CoV-2 QMRA models, as well as vomiting simulation studies [72, 73, 79, 80, 88, 89]. The norovirus QMRA models provided insight into the mechanism of fomite mediated transmission particularly as it relates to fecal contamination on worker hands. The SARS-CoV-2 QMRA models were leveraged to structure the aerosol mediated transmission pathway in the vomit event scenario. The vomiting simulation studies provided the basis for defining the projectile vomit trajectory and contamination of the production room environment.

The outcomes of the model included the risk of norovirus infection for a susceptible worker exposed to different exposure events (fecal, vomitus) and transmission pathways (fomite, aerosol). The susceptible worker's risk of infection was defined as the risk from ingesting infectious norovirus particles (infectious feces or vomitus) via transfer from the hand to mouth or ingestion of infectious aerosols (vomit). Additional outcomes included the cumulative infection risk reduction achieved through the utilization of mitigation measures (hand hygiene, surface disinfection, and face mask use). Figure 1 illustrates the exposure events and transmission pathways that were analyzed in the QMRA model.

The simulated transmission pathways begin with a single infected worker packaging products into boxes. The boxes progress down the production line to the downstream susceptible worker who palletizes the boxes. In the fecal event scenario, the infected worker contaminates their hands with feces leading to contamination of fomite reservoirs. The fecal module simulates an 8-hour work shift split into four 2-hour timesteps. In the fecal module, it is assumed that the infected worker uses the restroom to defecate, contaminating their hands in the process. The

infected worker is modeled to contact available surfaces in the restroom leading to contamination of the restroom environment. Returning to the production floor, the infected worker's contaminated hands contact the production floor door handle contaminating it. The infected worker then returns to their workstation packing product into boxes leading to contamination of the boxes. The contaminated restroom environment, production room door handle, and product boxes subsequently acts as fomite reservoir for transmission when contacted by the hands of the susceptible worker.

The vomit module simulates an 8-hour work shift split into eight 1-hour timesteps. In the vomit module it is assumed that the infected worker experiences a sudden onset of projectile vomiting contaminating the floor, conveyer belt, nearby products on the conveyer belt, and the production room air. It is assumed that the infected worker is standing in front of and facing the conveyer belt when they experienced a sudden onset of nausea. The infected worker then turns their head and body to face towards the start of the production line (i.e., upstream), with the conveyer belt on one side of them, and immediately "projectile" vomits. The infected worker is removed from the production line, vomitus removed and disinfected, and the contaminated products disposed of. The disinfection of the conveyer belt removes only a proportion of the contamination resulting in the belt acting as a fomite reservoir. For the baseline modeled scenario, surface disinfection is assumed to be done hastily with a cloth soaked in detergent and used to produce a visible clean surface. Baker et al. found that use of a cloth soaked in detergent and used to produce a visible clean surface was insufficient to eliminate norovirus contamination [90]. In order to model a worst-case-scenario situation, it was assumed that disinfection with a cloth soaked in detergent would produce a 10% reduction in norovirus contamination (baseline). For the modeled surface disinfection intervention scenario, increased attention to cleaning and

increased efficacy of cleaning products was modeled. A 90% (1 log₁₀) reduction in norovirus contamination (enhanced efficacy of surface disinfection) was modeled in accordance with previously quantified and modelled surface disinfection efficacies for the intervention scenario [72, 91]. Infectious aerosols produced during the vomiting event are available to be ingested during breaths taken by the susceptible worker during the remainder of the 8-hour work shift. Infectious aerosols are also available to fallout of the air contaminating the product boxes which act as fomite reservoirs throughout the remainder of the shift.

The model was developed in R (version 4.1.1; R Development Core Team; Vienna, Austria) using the mc2d package for Monte Carlo simulation and sensitivity analysis (Pouillot and Delignette-Muller, 2010) [92].

2.2 Data Sources

Model parameters (Table 1) are grouped into three categories (i) norovirus viral load and surface, room air, and worker hands contamination with infectious fecal matter or vomitus; (ii) worker health and hygiene behavior (handwashing efficacy, glove use, surface disinfection, mask use); and (iii) dose-response and risk characterization for the susceptible worker. Viral shedding data were obtained from human norovirus challenge studies in which symptomatic individuals shed 2 to 11 log₁₀ viral RNA genome copies per gram of feces and 3 to 7 log₁₀ viral RNA genome copies per mL of vomitus [72, 93-95]. The vomitus projectile trajectory, proportion of vomitus aerosolized, and particle size were obtained from vomiting simulation studies, epidemiologic reports of projectile vomiting events, and hospital air sampling studies [66, 68, 88, 96]. Parameters for the persistence and transfer of noroviruses from hands to gloves, hands to mouth, hands to fomites and from fomites to hands were obtained from laboratory-based studies

[72, 97-102]. The efficacy of hand hygiene, surface disinfection, and mask use were based on laboratory studies [72, 90, 103-115].

2.3 Transmission from a Fecal Event

In the fecal event simulation, the infected worker defecates and contaminates their hands. The infected worker's hands contact and contaminate the restroom environment. Before leaving the restroom, the infected worker is assumed to follow good manufacturing practices and washes their hands. After exiting the restroom, the infected worker's contaminated hands contact the production floor door handle and subsequently the product boxes leading to contamination of these surfaces. Once contaminated, the restroom environment, production floor door handle, and product boxes act as fomite reservoirs, facilitating fomite mediated transmission, when contacted by the hands of the susceptible worker. Interventions including additional handwashing during each 2-hour timestep, glove use, surface cleaning, and mask use are built into the following equations as "switches". These intervention "switches" can be turned "on" or "off" in the model code to model the use of interventions and determine the precent reduction in the risk of infection.

2.3.1 Contamination of Infected Worker Hands and Fomite Reservoirs

All fecal events were modeled to occurred in the restroom. During the restroom visit, the infected worker's hands are assumed to become contaminated via contact with personal feces. The infected worker is assumed to follow good manufacturing practices and washes their hands before leaving the restroom. Four restroom visits were simulated for the infected worker, one every 2 hours based on prior modelling assumptions and epidemiologic studies [49, 72, 116].

The initial contamination on one hand of the infected worker, after use of the restroom, *nvhandinf*, is expressed as norovirus virions per one hand:

$$nvhandinf = \frac{mfh \times nvf}{10^{HWeff}}$$

In the above equation, mfh, is the mass of feces per hand, nvf, is the concentration of norovirus in feces, and HWeff is the removal efficacy of handwashing. While in the restroom, the infected worker contacts the restroom environment contaminating it and leading it to act as a reservoir for transmission. The concentration of norovirus that is transferred to the restroom environment, BR.nv, is determined as follows:

$$BR.nv = concen.nv \times Trhbr \times contacts \times \frac{hand.sa}{counter.sa} \times (1 - sc.eff.p \times clean)$$

Where *concen. nv* is the concentration of norovirus on both of the infected worker's hands, *Trhbr* is the proportion of norovirus transferred per touch from the infected worker's hands to the restroom environment, *contacts* is the number of hand to surface contacts, *hand. sa* is the surface area of both hands, *counter. sa* is the surface area of the restroom counter, *sc. eff. p* is the efficiency of surface disinfection, and clean is the probability that the surface was cleaned.

Once the infected worker leaves the restroom to return to the production floor, they contact the production room door handle with one of their contaminated hands, *noro.left*, leading to contamination of the door handle. The amount of contamination that is transferred from the infected workers hand to the production floor door handle, *amtdoor*, is calculated using the proportion of norovirus transferred per touch from a contaminated hand to the door handle, *Trhdoor*, where sa. *handle* is the surface area of the production floor door handle:

$$amtdoor = noro.left - (noro.left \times (1 - Trhdoor)) \times \left(\frac{hand.sa/2}{sa.handle}\right)$$

After contacting the production floor door handle the amount of norovirus contamination that remains on both hands of the infected worker, nvHd, is calculated as follows:

$$nvHd = (noro.left \times (1 - Trhdoor)) + noro.left$$

Upon returning to the production floor, the infected worker either puts on gloves if this intervention is being modeled, (i.e., if the intervention "switch" for Glove use is turned "on", or they do not don gloves, if the intervention "switch" is turned "off"). The intervention "switch" for glove use is modeled as the probability of a worker using gloves, *prob. glove*. A probability of 1 means that the worker put on gloves otherwise if the probability is 0 they did not. When the infected worker is simulated to don gloves, norovirus is transferred from the infected worker's contaminated hands, *nvHd*, to the gloves, *nvG*. The amount of norovirus transferred during the gloving process is calculated using the proportion of norovirus transferred per touch from a contaminated hand to the gloves, *Trhg*.

 $nvG = nvHd - nvHd \times (1 - Trhg) \times prob.glove$

Upon return to their workstation, the infected worker contaminates the product boxes through contact with their contaminated hands. The amount of norovirus contamination on product boxes, *nvP*1, varies by glove use as follows:

if prob.glove1 > 0, nvP1 = nvG × carton.number × Trhp else, nvP1 = nvHd × carton.number × Trhp

Where, *carton.number* is the number of product boxes processed during the timestep, and *Trhp* is the proportion of norovirus transferred per touch from a contaminated hand to the product box. The concentration of norovirus contamination on all product boxes processed during the timestep is represented by a composite fomite:

$$composite. fomite = (^{nvP1}/_{contamcompcartSA}) \times (^{hand. sa}/_{compcartonSA})$$

Where, *contamcompcartSA* is the composite contaminated product box surface area that the susceptible worker will come in contact with, *hand. sa* is the surface area of the susceptible worker's hand, and *compcartonSA* is the composite surface area of the product boxes processed during the timestep.

2.3.2 Fomite Transmission Modeling

Once contaminated, fomite reservoirs (the restroom environment, production floor door handle, and product boxes) pose subsequent infection risk to the susceptible worker. When the susceptible work's hands contact a fomite reservoir norovirus is transferred to their hands. During the 8-hour shift the susceptible worker uses the restroom once every four hours, once during timestep 2 and once during timestep 4. During the visits to the restroom the susceptible worker is exposed to the contaminated restroom environment and production floor door handle.

2.3.2.1 The Restroom Environment & Production Floor Door Handle

When the susceptible worker leaves the production floor to use the restroom, they first come into contact with the contaminated restroom environment and then the production floor door handle when they return to the production floor. It is assumed that the restroom door is a swing door. This is an important assumption as it means that norovirus contamination is not transferred to a bathroom door handle by the infected worker leaving the bathroom and thus norovirus contamination is not subsequently contacted by the susceptible worker leaving the bathroom. It is also assumed that the susceptible worker follows good manufacturing practices and washes their hands before leaving the restroom. The amount of norovirus that the susceptible accumulates on their hands when visiting the restroom environment and contacting the production floor door handle is determined by:

$$SWh = (BR.nv \times Trbr \times hand.sa \times (1 - HWeff)) + (nvdoor \times Trdoorh)$$

In the above equation *Trbr* is the proportion of norovirus transferred per touch of the restroom environment to the susceptible worker's hands, *nvdoor* is the concentration of norovirus on the production floor door handle, and *Trdoor*h is the proportion of norovirus transferred per touch of the door handle to the susceptible workers hands. If the susceptible worker does not use the restroom within a 2-hour timestep they do not accumulate contamination on their hands from the bathroom environment or production floor door handle.

2.3.2.2 Product Boxes

During each timestep the susceptible worker also comes into contact with the contaminated product boxes while palletizing the boxes for distribution. The amount of norovirus contamination that is transferred to the workers hands from contact with the product boxes during the given timestep, *Chand*. 1 for the first timestep, variers by whether the worker changes their gloves during the timestep:

if prob.gloves > 0,

$$Chand. 1 = \left(\left(\frac{freq. hs \times composite. fomite \times Trph}{v. decay. min. hand} \right) \times \left(1 - e^{(-v. decay. min. hand \times time)} \right) \right)$$

$$\times (1 - HWeff * prob.hw)^{Freq.HW} \times (1 - Trhg)^{Freq.glove}$$

else,

$$Chand. 1 = \left(\left(\frac{freq.hs \times composite.fomite \times Trph}{v.decay.min.hand} \right) \times (1 - e^{(-v.decay.min.hand \times time)}) \right) \times (1 - HWeff * prob.hw)^{Freq.HW}$$

In the above equation *freq.hs* is the frequency of hand to contaminated product box contacts. *Trph* is the proportion of norovirus transferred from the product box to the susceptible worker's hands per contact. *v. decay.min.hand* is the inactivation of norovirus particles on the susceptible worker's hands per minute, and *time* is the time of the timestep in minutes. *prob.hw* is the probability of washing hands, *Freq.HW* is the frequency of handwashing and *Freq.glove* is the frequency of glove changes.

2.3.3 Viral Dose

The viral dose on the susceptible worker's hands that is transferred to their mouth per timestep, DT.hh1 for the first timestep, depends on whether the worker is wearing a mask and is determined by the equation:

$$if \ pwsms > 0,$$

$$DT.hh1 = freq.hf.mask \times \left(\frac{finger.sa}{mouth.sa}\right) \times \left((Chand.1 \times hand.sa) + SWh.1\right) \times Trhface$$

 $\times T \times infectious$

else,

$$DT.hh1 = freq.hf \times \left(\frac{finger.sa}{mouthsa}\right) \times \left((Chand.1 \times hand.sa) + SWh.1\right) \times Trhface \times T$$
$$\times infectious$$

Where *freq.hf.mask* and *freq.hf* are the frequency of hand to mouth contacts when the susceptible worker is wearing a mask and not wearing a mask respectively. *finger.sa* and *mouth.sa* are the surface area of the workers fingers and mouth respectively. *Trhface* is the proportion of norovirus transferred from the workers hands to their mouth per hand to face contact. T is the time of the timestep in minutes, and infectious is the number of infectious people in the modeled scenario. The cumulative dose that the susceptible worker is exposed to over the 8-hour shift is calculated by adding the dose transferred to the worker's mouth for each timestep together. The cumulative dose is calculated through a dose response model to obtain the risk of infection for the susceptible worker.

2.4 Transmission from a Vomit Event

The infected worker was assumed to work packing products into boxes. The boxes then progress down the production line to the downstream susceptible worker who palletizes the boxes. The infected worker is assumed to experience a projectile vomiting episode at the start of the worker shift. The infected worker is assumed to turn their head and body to face towards the start of the production line (i.e., upstream), with the conveyer belt and products on the conveyer belt on one side of them, and immediately "projectile" vomits. The infectious vomitus contaminates the floor, conveyer belt, products on the conveyer belt, and room's air. The infected worker is assumed to be removed following the vomiting event, the soiled products disposed of, and the floor and conveyer belt are assumed to not be disinfected very well. It is assumed that only a 10% reduction in virus is achieved at baseline. The susceptible worker is then exposed to norovirus contamination during the remainder of their 8-hour shift through ingesting aerosolized infectious vomitus particles and contact with contaminated surfaces. The contaminated surfaces include the conveyer belt, contaminated via the vomitus, and the product boxes, contaminated by infectious aerosolized particles that fallout of the air.

Interventions including handwashing, glove use, and mask use are built into the following equations as "switches". These intervention "switches" can be turned "on" or "off" to model the use of interventions and determine intervention effectives at reducing the risk of infection

2.4.1 Aerosol Transmission Modeling

The following aerosol transport model was leveraged from several SARS-CoV-2 risk assessment models [79, 80]. The source of infectious virus released into the production room was from the sudden onset of an infected worker's projectile vomiting (described above in 2.4), with total viral shedding, *nvAMTvom*, calculated from the concentration of norovirus in vomitus, *nvV*, times the volume of vomitus expelled *volV*:

The proportion of expelled infectious vomitus that was aerosolized, *nvAMTaero*, during projectile vomiting was determined as follows, where *pctaero* is the percent of vomitus that is aerosolized:

nvAMTaero = *nvAMTvom* × *pctaero*

The initial concentration of norovirus particles in the air following the projectile vomiting event is calculated as follows:

$$Ct = \left(\frac{1}{V.loss}\right) \times \left(1 - exp^{\left(\frac{(-V.loss \times \Delta t)}{facility.volume}\right)}\right) \times \frac{nvAMTaero}{\Delta t}$$

Where *V*. *loss* is the room air exchange rate, Δt is the length of the timestep in seconds, and *facility*. *volume* is the volume of the production room. It is assumed that viral particles fall out onto surfaces in the production room including product boxes leading to fomite mediated transmission. The amount of virus that falls out at each timestep is calculated as follows:

$fallout = totalCt \times v.us \times S.us \times \Delta t$

Where *v*. *us* is the deposition velocity and *S*. *us* is the surface area of the production room. *totalCt* is the amount of norovirus in the air during the timestep. *totalCt* calculated as the amount of virus that remained in the air at the end of the prior timestep times the amount of virus

that is lost due to air exchange during the current timestep. For the second timestep, *totalCt2*, and all subsequent timesteps the amount of virus remaining in the air is calculated as follows:

$$totalCt2 = \left(totalCt1 - \left(\frac{fallout1}{facility.volume}\right)\right) \times \left(exp^{\left((-V.loss \times \Delta t)/facility.volume\right)}\right)$$

The amount of virus that is available to be ingested from the air by the susceptible worker during a time step is calculated as the amount of norovirus in the area during the timestep, *totalCt*, minus the amount of virus that fallouts during the timestep over the facility volume:

$$inhaleCt = totalCt - \left(\frac{fallout}{facility.volume}\right)$$

The viral dose, attributed to aerosol mediated transmission, that the susceptible worker ingests during each timestep varies depending on whether the susceptible worker is wearing a mask and is calculated as follows:

 $dose = (inhaleCt \times dep \times inhalerate \times exposuretime) \times (1 - (pwsms \times s.mask.p))$

In the above equation, *dep* is the deposition fraction of infectious virus into the mouth, nose, or conducting airways. *inhalerate* is the inhalation rate of the susceptible worker, *exposuretime* is the length of the timestep in hours, *pwsms* is the probability that the susceptible worker is wearing a mask, and *s.mask.p* is the precent reduction in virus ingestion attributed the use of a surgical face mask. The cumulative dose, attributed to aerosol mediated transmission, for the 8-hour work shift was calculated by summing the dose from each timestep.

2.4.2 Fomite Transmission Modeling

Viral contamination on the conveyer belt and fallout of aerosolized vomitus serve as reservoirs for fomite mediated transmission. The amount of virus that remains on the conveyer belt after disinfection, *AMTnv. belt*, is calculated as shown below:

$$AMTnv.belt = (volV.belt \times nvV) \times (1 - clean.eff)$$

Where, *volV. belt* is the volume of vomitus that lands on the conveyer belt, and *clean. eff*, is the efficacy of disinfection of the conveyer belt. The area of the conveyer belt that was contaminated, *aera. contam*, was assumed based off of simulated vomiting experiments [88]. The concentration of norovirus contamination on the conveyer belt after disinfection was calculated as follows:

$$belt = (\frac{AMTnv.belt}{aera.contam}) \times (\frac{hand.sa}{area.belt})$$

Where, *area. belt* is the surface area of the of the conveyer belt. At the start of each subsequent timestep, 2-8 hours, the concentration of norovirus that remains on the conveyer belt is determined by subtracting the amount of virus that was transferred to the susceptible worker's hand. The amount of norovirus transferred to the susceptible worker's hand varied by whether the susceptible worker changed their gloves:

$$B. hand. 1 = \left(\left(\frac{freq. hb \times belt \times Trbh}{v. decay. min. hand} \right) \times \left(1 - e^{(-v. decay. min. hand \times time)} \right) \right)$$
$$\times (1 - HWeff * prob. hw)^{Freq. HW} \times (1 - Trhg)^{Freq. glove}$$
$$else,$$
$$B. hand. 1 = \left(\left(\frac{freq. hb \times belt \times Trbh}{v. decay. min. hand \times time} \right) \right) \times (1 - e^{(-v. decay. min. hand \times time)} \right)$$

$$B.hand. 1 = \left(\left(\frac{freq.hb \times belt \times Trbh}{v.decay.min.hand} \right) \times \left(1 - e^{(-v.decay.min.hand \times time)} \right) \right)$$
$$\times (1 - HWeff * prob.hw)^{Freq.HW}$$

In the above equations *freq.hb* is the frequency of hand to conveyer belt contacts, and *Trbh* is the proportion of norovirus transferred per hand to conveyer belt contact. The susceptible worker also accumulated norovirus contamination on their hands from contacting the
product boxes. Product boxes are contaminated by infectious aerosol fallout during each timestep as follows:

$$fomite = {\binom{fallout}{contamcompcartSA} \times {\binom{hand.sa}{compcartonSA}}}$$

The amount of norovirus contamination that is transferred to the worker's hands from contact with the product boxes during the given timestep, *Chand*. 1 for the first timestep, varies by whether the worker changes their gloves during the timestep:

$$if \ prob. \ gloves > 0,$$

$$Chand. 1 = \left(\left(\frac{freq. hs \times fomite1 \times Trph}{v. decay. min. hand} \right) \times (1 - e^{(-v. decay. min. hand \times time)}) \right) \\ \times (1 - HWeff * prob. hw)^{Freq. HW} \times (1 - Trhg)^{Freq. glove} \\ else,$$

$$Chand. 1 = \left(\left(\frac{freq. hs \times fomite1 \times Trph}{v. decay. min. hand} \right) \times \left(1 - e^{(-v. decay. min. hand \times time)} \right) \right) \\ \times (1 - HWeff * prob. hw)^{Freq. HW}$$

The viral dose, attributed to fomite mediated transmission, on the susceptible worker's hands that is transferred to their mouth per timestep, *DT*.*hh*1, depends on whether the worker is wearing a mask and is determined by the equation:

if
$$pwsms > 0$$
,

$$DT.hh1 = freq.hf.mask \times hand.sa \times \left(\frac{finger.sa}{mouth.sa}\right) \times (B.hand.1 + Chand.1) \times Trhface$$

 $\times T \times infectious$

else,

$$DT.hh1 = freq.hf \times hand.sa \times \left(\frac{finger.sa}{mouth.sa}\right) \times (B.hand.1 + Chand.1) \times Trhface \times T$$

× infectious

The fomite mediated dose that the susceptible worker is exposed to over the 8-hour shift is calculated by adding the dose transferred to the workers mouth for each timestep together. The cumulative dose for the vomit event scenario is calculated by adding the doses from both the aerosol and fomite mediated transmission together. The cumulative dose is then calculated through a dose response model to derive the risk of infection for the susceptible worker.

2.5 Interventions

Interventions utilized in the fecal event and vomit event modules included handwashing, glove use, surface cleaning, and mask use. All interventions are coded as "switches" that can be turned "on" or "off" in the code depending on the scenario being modeled. When "switches" are "off", the probability that the intervention is used is 0 and no reduction in virus is implemented in the calculations to determine the viral dose. When the switches are "on" the probability that the intervention is used is 1 leading to a percent reduction in virus attributed to the specific intervention being modeled. In the vomit event scenario, surface cleaning is modeled at baseline as a 10% reduction in the viral contamination. In the vomit event scenario, when the intervention switch for surface cleaning is turned on, modeling more through disinfection, a 90% reduction (1 log₁₀ reduction) in viral contamination is implemented (enhanced efficacy of surface disinfection). In the fecal event scenario and in the vomit event aerosol-fomite mediated transmission pathway, mask use is modeled as a reduction of the in frequency of hand to mouth contacts when the intervention is turned "on" [117]. For the vomit event aerosol mediated transmission pathway, mask use is modeled as the percent reduction in virus ingestion attributed the use of a surgical face mask [114]. The ability to turn interventions on and off allows for the evaluation of each intervention as well as their combined effect on reducing the infection risk.

Interventions were selected based on the FDA's Food Safety and Modernization Act Produce Rule for hand washing, glove use compliance and surface disinfection guidelines for mitigating worker infection risk [45, 46, 71]. The hand washing efficacy was defined as a percent reduction of up to 99.9999% reduction (6 log₁₀ reduction) with the frequency of handwashing defined as one cleaning event per timestep [72, 73]. A low (1-2 log₁₀ reduction) and high (2-6 log₁₀ reduction) handwashing efficacy were modeled. The frequency of glove changes was also defined as one exchange event per timestep. Surface disinfections, in the fecal event scenario, resulted in up to a 99% reduction (2 log₁₀ reduction) and was evaluated at a frequency of every 2 hours to once per shift [72].

2.6 Risk Assessment

The viral dose that the susceptible work is exposed to in the fecal and vomit modules was used in the following dose response model to obtain the risk of infection from each exposure event.

$$risk = P \times (1 - exp^{(-dose/mu)})$$

Where P is probability of infection, mu is the mean aggregated size, *dose* is the dose that the susceptible worker is exposure to from the specific transmission pathway [118].

2.7 Sensitivity Analysis

A sensitivity analysis was conducted over 10,000 simulations to determine the most influential parameters in estimating the risk of norovirus infection for a susceptible worker. The parameters identified as being most influential in the risk estimate were reported as Spearman rank correlational coefficients using the "tornado" function in the mc2d R package [92].

3. Modeling Results

A quantitative microbial risk assessment model (QMRA) was developed in R to evaluate the risk of norovirus infection among food production workers. Model parameters were identified through an extensive literature review including empirical, clinical, and modeling studies (Table 1). Two exposure events, a fecal event module and a projectile vomiting event module, and two routes of transmission, fomite and aerosol mediated transmission, were evaluated (Figure 1). The impact of various mitigation measures including handwashing, glove utilization, surface disinfection, and face mask use were assessed individually and in combination to determine their effectiveness at reducing norovirus infection risk. Finally, a sensitivity analysis was conducted to assess the accumulation of variability across model iterations.

3.1 Risk of Infection in Fecal Event Module

Since norovirus outbreaks have been traced back to contamination in the food production setting due to the presence of multiple infected workers, it is important to understand the risk of norovirus infection in the food production setting and how to prevent infections in the food production setting [20]. One mode of doing so is understanding the risk of infection posed by different exposure events and transmission pathways. To determine the infection risk posed by an infected food production worker experiencing repeated fecal events, we modeled an 8-hour cumulative exposure to infectious fecal matter via fomite mediated transmission for a susceptible worker. The fomite-mediated infection risk was 0.223 (5th-95th percentile: 0.009, 0.716), after 8 hours of exposure (Figure 2A). These results suggest that the presence of a single infected

worker poses a 22% risk of infection via fomite mediated transmission of infectious fecal matter to a susceptible worker.

3.2 Risk of Infection in Vomit Event Module

Individuals infected with norovirus may experience sudden onset of projectile vomiting with little to no warning [10, 66, 119]. To understand the infection risk posed by an infected food production worker who experiences a projectile vomiting event, we modeled the aerosol and aerosol-contaminated fomite-mediated infection risk associated with an 8-hour cumulative exposure. The risk of infection from ingesting aerosolized viral particles alone was determined to be 8.2×10^{-4} (5th-95th percentile: 5.5×10^{-5} , 1.9×10^{-2}), while the aerosol-fomite mediated infection risk was 4.1×10^{-3} (5th-95th percentile: 2.0×10^{-4} , 1.2×10^{-1}), producing a combined aerosol and fomite-mediated infection risk of 5.3×10^{-3} (5th-95th percentile: 2.9×10^{-4} , 1.4×10^{-1}) (Figure 2B). These results suggested that aerosol-fomite mediated transmission, compared to aerosol mediated transmission, accounts for a greater portion of the risk of infection attributed to exposure to a projectile vomiting event along the production line.

3.3 Effects of Hand Hygiene Interventions on Reducing Infection Risk

Proper handwashing and glove use are known to reduce the spread and direct skin contact with norovirus [24, 51, 120]. To quantify the impact handwashing and glove compliance have on decreasing the infection risk within each exposure event scenario, the baseline risk was compared to the risk attributed to low efficacy handwashing (1-2 log₁₀ reduction per event), high efficacy handwashing (2-6 log₁₀ reduction per event), glove use only, or a combination of handwashing and glove use as discussed in methods section 2.5. In the fecal event scenario, the

percent reduction attributed to low efficacy (1-2 log₁₀ reduction per event) handwashing only was 2.64%, 16.25% for high handwashing efficacy (2-6 log₁₀ reduction per event), 2.30% for glove use, 2.76% for low handwashing efficacy and glove use, and 16.26% for high handwashing efficacy and glove use (Figure 3A). In the vomit event scenario, the percent reduction attributed to low efficacy handwashing only was 78.65%, 84.07% for high efficacy handwashing, 17.76% for glove use, 79.83% for low handwashing efficacy and glove use, and 84.15% for high handwashing efficacy and glove use (Figure 3B). These findings indicate that hand hygiene interventions were more impactful in the vomit event scenario than in the fecal event scenario.

3.4 Effects of Surface Disinfection on Reducing Infection Risk

Surface disinfection practices are recommended during food preparation to reduce the risk of foodborne illness from pathogens such as norovirus [51, 121]. To understand the impact of surface disinfection on reducing the risk of norovirus infection, the baseline risk was compared to increasing the frequency of disinfection in the fecal event scenario and improved surface disinfection of the conveyer belt from 10% (baseline) reduction in total norovirus contamination during removal of vomitus to 90% (enhanced efficacy of surface disinfection) reduction in total norovirus contamination during removal of vomitus. The methods section provides additional information on the assumptions made and the values used for surface disinfection (methods sections 2.1, 2.4, 2.5). For the fecal event scenario relative to no surface disinfection, the impact of disinfection event frequency once, every four hours, or every two hours was evaluated. The percent reduction in the infection risk was, 42.29% for disinfection once per shift, 91.05% for disinfection every four hours, and 91.22% disinfection every two

hours (Figure 4A). In the vomit scenario, improved disinfection efficacy of the conveyer belt resulted in an 72.69% reduction in the infection risk compared to baseline (Figure 4B). These results indicate that surface disinfection was an effective means to reduces the risk of norovirus infection for the susceptible worker across both exposure scenarios.

3.5 Effects of Surgical Face Mask Use on Reducing Infection Risk

It has been reported that during the current COVID-19 pandemic there has been a 49% reduction in norovirus outbreaks [86]. It has been proposed that this reduction in outbreaks could be in part attributed to mask use, among other interventions. To evaluate how much masks can reduce the risk of infection, mask use was modeled as a 73% decrease in the number of hand to face contacts for the fomite mediated and aerosol-fomite mediated transmission pathways [117]. For the aerosol transmission pathway, mask use was modeled as a 37-99.8% percent reduction in the amount of norovirus taken into the mouth, nose, or conducting airways [114, 115]. In the fecal event scenario, mask use resulted in a 69.25% reduction in the risk of infection (Figure 5A). While in in the vomit scenario there was a 72.22% reduction in the risk of infection attributed to mask use (Figure 5B). These results suggest that masks are an effective means of reducing the risk of infection both through decreased hand to face contacts as well as reduced aerosol ingestion of norovirus particles.

3.6 Effects of Combination Intervention Utilization on Reducing Infection Risk

While each intervention alone reduced the risk of infection, to varying degrees, in practice, multiple interventions are often utilized together in the food production facility. The baseline exposure scenarios, for the fecal and vomit event modules, were compared to the use of

combined interventions to determine the combined effect of the interventions on reducing the risk of infection. In the fecal event scenario, when high handwashing efficacy, glove use, surface disinfection every four hours, and mask use were utilized together a 98.78% reduction in the risk of infection was achieved (Figure 6A). Similarly, in the vomit event scenario, a 96.08% reduction in the risk of infection was achieved when high handwashing efficacy, glove use, increased efficacy of surface disinfection of the conveyer belt, and mask use were used in combination (Figure 6B). As would be expected, these results confirm that multiple intervention utilization provides a greater level of protection, compared to individual intervention use, from norovirus infection for the susceptible worker.

3.7 Sensitivity Analysis

Spearman rank correlation coefficients were calculated to identify the parameters that were most influential in the cumulative norovirus infection risk estimate from both the fecal event and vomit event modules. In the fecal event module, the parameters identified as increasing the risk of norovirus infection were the concentration of norovirus in feces (rho= 0.57), and the mass of feces per hand (rho= 0.53). In the fecal event module, the parameter identified as decreasing the risk of norovirus infection the most was the surface disinfection efficacy (rho= -0.30) (Figure 7). In the vomit event module, the parameters identified as increasing the risk of norovirus infection were the concentration of norovirus in vomit (rho= 0.97), and the deposition of virus into the mouth, nose and conducting airways (rho= 0.15). In the vomit event module, the parameter given the vomit event module, the parameter infection the most was handwashing efficacy (rho= -0.01) (Figure 8). These results suggest that the

propagation of variability attributed to parameter heterogeneity was greatest for norovirus viral load parameters in model modeled scenarios.

4. Discussion

The goal of this study was to identify the cumulative infection risk associated with specific exposure events (fecal and vomit) and associated transmission pathways (fomite and aerosol) on the food production floor. Additionally, we aimed to quantify the impact of mitigation measures on the risk of norovirus infection among susceptible food production floor workers. Overall, these results demonstrate that the risk of norovirus infection varies by exposure event and associated transmission pathways. Furthermore, the risk of norovirus infection across both exposure events, and simulated transmission pathways, was reduced by the utilization of various interventions. The greatest reduction in the risk of infection to the susceptible worker was observed when multiple interventions were applied in combination (handwashing, gloving, surface disinfection, and mask use). These results provide insight into the risk of norovirus infection for food production workers for two exposure events as well as reinforces the importance and effectiveness of infection risk reduction measures.

4.1 Risk of Norovirus Infection Differs by Exposure Event and Transmission Pathways

Our model indicated that the simulated fecal event exposure module posed a greater baseline risk of infection (0.22 infection risk) than the simulated vomit event exposure module (0.0053 infection risk). One hypothesis to explain these results is that there is a different amount of norovirus contamination accrued in each exposure scenario. The fecal event scenario simulated repeated fecal events, a total of four fecal events were simulated, over the 8-hour shift leading to increasing and cumulative contamination of fomite reservoirs (bathroom environment, production floor door handle). The vomit event scenario, however, simulated a single projectile vomiting event, for which less than 0.03% of vomitus was aerosolized and a maximum of 25% of vomitus landed on the conveyer belt contributing to fomite mediated transmission. Our finding of a greater risk of infection from exposure to contamination from fecal events, compared to the vomit event, is consistent with the findings of Overbey et al. [122]. The norovirus QMRA model created by Overbey et al. found that fomite contact risk estimates, for hospital environmental services workers, attributed to vomit events, were four orders of magnitude lower than fomite contact risk estimates attributed to fecal events. These results were also attributed to reduced viral exposure from vomit events. Another norovirus QMRA study, by Duret et al., also found that aerosol contamination, of the restroom environment, was less important than contamination from direct hand contact with fomites [49].

For the vomit event scenario, our model found that the risk of infection for a susceptible food production worker attributed to aerosol mediated transmission was 0.00082 while the infection risk attributed aerosol-fomite mediated transmission was 0.0041(80% greater than aerosol mediated transmission). Aerosol mediated transmission refers to the ingestion of aerosolized infectious vomitus particles from the air. In contrast, aerosol-fomite mediated transmission refers to contact with surfaces that have been contaminated by deposition of aerosolized infectious vomitus particles on to the surfaces as well as contamination from vomitus that lands on the surface leading to fomite mediated transmission of norovirus. For our vomit event scenario, it is likely that the risk attributed to aerosol mediated transmission is so small because the proportion of norovirus that was aerosolized was less than 0.03% of norovirus in the vomit. Based on our results for the vomit event scenario it appears that aerosol-fomite mediated transmission drives the risk of infection from exposure to a vomit event. At the time of this writing, there are no norovirus QMRA studies to compare our vomit event scenario results to as

this is the first norovirus QMRA model to incorporate aerosol mediated transmission from exposure to a vomit event.

4.1.1 Risk of Norovirus Infection from Exposure to Repeated Fecal Events

As previously mentioned, the fecal event module identified a 22% risk of infection for a susceptible worker in the absence of interventions. Several factors could be contributing to this risk of infection, including the level of viral shedding simulated (maximum 8 \log_{10} infectious viral particles per gram of feces), and the low infectious dose of norovirus [33]. Overbey et al. simulated slightly higher fecal norovirus viral shedding level (maximum 10 \log_{10} infectious viral particles) and obtained a similar, but slightly larger, risk of infection of 33% for a susceptible worker not utilizing protective measures [122]. Furthermore the baseline results obtained for the fecal event module are reasonable as our model resulted in a dose of over 10³ genomic equivalent copies (GEC) of norovirus, ingested by the susceptible worker, and human challenge studies have found that approximately 33% of people who receive an inoculum of ~10³ GEC of norovirus will become infected [33].

4.1.2 Risk of Norovirus Infection from a Vomit Exposure Event

Contrary to previously reported findings [123], our model identified a low risk of norovirus infection from exposure to a single projectile vomiting event in the food production setting. A study by Adams et al. found that vomiting norovirus-infected individuals infected 2.12 times the number of individuals compared to non-vomiting norovirus-infected individuals [123]. Another report of a norovirus outbreak, caused by a restaurant patron who experienced a vomiting episode, attributed subsequent infections to exposure to aerosolized virus from the vomiting event [66]. One reason for our divergent findings is that the infected worker in our model is removed immediately after a single vomiting event. In contrast, the study by Adams et al. took place in long term care facilities in which individuals were continually exposed to the infected individual as well as to multiple modes of transmission [123]. Another mechanism that may account for the difference in results is that our model simulated a situation in which the susceptible worker was distanced from the infected worker and never exposed to droplet spray from the vomiting event. In the reported restaurant outbreak, subsequent cases were in close contact with the infected individual eating at the same or nearby tables [66]. As previously mentioned, our model is the first to simulate the risk from aerosol mediated transmission to a susceptible worker. Previous norovirus QMRA models have quantified the aerosol-fomite mediated risk of infection to susceptible individuals, the risk from which was low. However, the risk from ingestion of aerosolized particles was not investigated [49, 122].

4.2 Risk of Norovirus Infection is Reduced Differentially by Intervention Type

Findings from our model demonstrate the importance of infection mitigation measures for reducing the risk of norovirus infection across both exposure events (fecal, vomit) and associated transmission pathways (fomite, aerosol). Interventions that align with the existing Food Safety Modernization Act (FSMA) requirements, including hand hygiene interventions (handwashing, glove use) and surface disinfection were evaluated [45, 46, 71]. Surgical mask use was also modeled to understand how this intervention might reduce the risk of norovirus infection given its continued use and central role as a mitigation measure throughout the COVID-19 pandemic [124, 125]. Individual intervention effectiveness varied across the modeled exposure events with certain interventions proving more effective than others.

Hand hygiene interventions proved minimally effective in the fecal exposure event scenario. The maximum reduction in infection risk achieved, in the fecal module, was for the combined use of handwashing and gloving which resulted in a risk reduction of 16%. Our lower effectiveness of hand hygiene interventions for the fecal event module is due to the high fomite contamination resulting from repeated fecal events (1311 GEC of norovirus without any interventions) and contamination of the fomite reservoir (restroom environment and production floor door handle). Handwashing by the susceptible worker only occurs the in the restroom environment. Therefore, subsequent contact with fomite reservoirs by the susceptible worker, outside the restroom, leads to renewed accumulation of norovirus contamination. With high levels of contamination accumulation on the susceptible workers hands from contact with the fomite reservoirs, a dose of 1066 GEC of norovirus is still achieved in the presence of handwashing (2-6 \log_{10} reduction) and gloving, only in the restroom environment. This dose (1066 GEC of norovirus) explains the resulting 19% risk of infection for the susceptible worker and minimal effectiveness of the hand hygiene interventions in the fecal event module, especially given that the infectious dose 50 (ID50) of norovirus has been estimated to be as low as 18 virus particles [33]. Thus, these results suggest that for exposure to fecal contamination, hand hygiene interventions (handwashing, glove use) should be paired with other interventions (surface disinfection, masking) to achieve a reduction in the dose of norovirus below the ID50 that a susceptible worker is exposed to.

While the risk of infection in the vomit event module was low at baseline (0.53% infection risk), implementation of mitigation measures is still important to reduce the risk of infection. Hand hygiene interventions in the vomit event module achieved a maximum risk reduction of 84% for handwashing and a maximum risk reduction of 18% for glove use. One

reason for only the 18% reduction in the risk of infection for glove use is that our model assumes that 0-44% of norovirus contamination could be transferred from the contaminated hand of the infected or susceptible worker to their gloves during gloving. Work done by Ronnqvist et al. demonstrated the process of transfer of norovirus from norovirus contaminated hands to gloves during donning of clean gloves [100]. The transfer of norovirus from the contaminated hands to gloves during the gloving process explains the minimal efficacy of gloving as a means to reduce the risk of infection for the susceptible worker.

Surface disinfection was an important risk reductions measure across both modeled exposure event scenarios. In the fecal event scenario, surface disinfection of fomite reservoirs proved the most effective individual mitigation measure, achieving maximum risk reduction of 91%. In the vomit event scenario, an enhanced efficacy of surface disinfection was modeled (1 \log_{10} reduction) achieving maximum risk reduction of 73% in the risk of infection. One hypothesis for the reduction in the risk of infection achieved in both scenarios is that mitigation measures, such as surface disinfection, that act to reduce to viral contamination on contact surfaces, result in reduced accumulation viral contamination on the susceptible workers hands. In the fecal event module at baseline 1311 GEC of norovirus accumulate on the susceptible workers hands. This is reduced to 112 GEC of norovirus when surface disinfection is utilized. In the vomit event module at baseline 58 GEC of norovirus accumulate on the susceptible workers hands. This is reduced to 2 GEC of norovirus when surface disinfection is utilized. The ID50 of norovirus has been estimated to be 18 virus particles [33]. Thus, the reduced amount of norovirus contamination on the susceptible workers hands, below the ID50 for the vomit event module, results in a reduced risk of infection for the susceptible worker. Our surface disinfection results are in line with previous QMRA modeling that has also identified surface disinfection as an

important measure for reducing the risk of infection by 93% for rotavirus, and 94% for rhinovirus and influenza A virus by reducing the amount of virus on contact surfaces and susceptible individuals hands [126].

Mask use has not previously been evaluated as an intervention for reducing the risk of norovirus infection. The current COVID-19 pandemic has seen the implementation of mask wearing across may settings including the food production setting [127, 128]. Bruggink et al. reported a 49% reduction in norovirus outbreaks in 2020 proposing that interventions implemented in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, such as mask use among other interventions, may have contributed to the reduction in outbreaks [86]. In the fecal event module, face mask use alone resulted in a 69% decrease in the risk of infection. This decrease was attributed to decreased hand to mouth contacts as a result of face mask use. Research conducted by Chen et al. found that mask wearing was associated with reduced face-touching behaviors, specifically reduced touching of the eyes, nose, and mouth [129]. Similarly, in the vomit event module, face mask use alone resulted in a 72% reduction inf the risk of infection. This reduction was attributed both to decreased hand to mouth contacts as well as decreased ingestion of aerosolized virus. Canales et al. reported that the number of hand-to-mouth contacts had the greatest influence on total dose in their norovirus QMRA model evaluating the role of fomites in a norovirus outbreak [130].

As expected, our model confirmed that combined intervention use was most effective at reducing the risk of norovirus infection for a susceptible food production worker. Across both the fecal and vomit exposure event modules, utilization of a combination of handwashing, gloving, surface disinfection, and mask use resulted in a 99% reduction in the risk of infection for the fecal event module and 96% reduction for in the risk of infection for the vomit event

module. These results are supported by Mokhtari et al. who found that utilization of multiple interventions (handwashing, glove use) resulted in norovirus contamination control below their cut-off-level of 10 infectious norovirus particles per food serving in a retail food setting [72]. Sobolik et al. identified a similar risk reduction of 99% for combined intervention use (increased handwashing efficacy, handwashing and glove use compliance) in their model evaluating the risk of infection to consumers from consumption of contaminated produce [73]. Given the low infectious dose and high viral shedding of infected individual, multiple interventions should be utilized simultaneously to reduces the risk of transmission and subsequent infection [33].

4.4 Modeling Strengths, Limitations, & Future Directions

The model presented here has several strengths. One strength of the model is that we leveraged current findings from the peer-reviewed literature along with expertise from industry partners to generate realistic exposure scenarios and transmission pathways. An additional strength of our model is the consideration of aerosol mediated exposure to norovirus from a vomiting event, something that has not been done until now. Including the aerosol mediated transmission in our model provided a better understanding of the complete risk attributed to exposure to a vomiting event because our model accounted for the modes of transmission from exposure to a vomiting event. Finally, our model is easily adaptable to modeling of either additional exposure pathways in the food production setting or adaption of the current model to different settings such as restaurants or hospitals.

Our model, as is the case with all models, is an abstraction of reality which brings with it inherent limitations. One limitation of our model is that it cannot account for any exposure that might take place outside of the modeled scenarios. For instance, the model cannot account for risk of infection from exposures that may occur in the breakroom environment or after work as these scenarios were not modeled. Additionally, our model does not consider the risk of infection to the individual tasked with cleaning up the vomitus expelled by the infected worker. This task carries an inherent risk of infection that would be important to quantify and understand how to best minimize the infection risk. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention notes that individuals caring for norovirus infected persons are at risk of infection from contact infectious bodily fluids such as vomitus [28]. In this same vein, our model does not consider the risk of infection to additional food production workers on the production floor who may use the contaminated restroom and contact the contaminated production floor door handle (fecal vent scenario) or be present on the floor during and after the vomit event (vomit event scenario).

Future QMRA models may consider addressing the limitations of the current model, modeling additional interventions (e.g., increased air exchanges, alternative mask types), and evaluating the risk from aerosol mediation transmission in alternative settings (e.g., hospitals, restaurants, cruise ships). Future modeling work should also consider the risk of infection to the worker tasked with cleaning up the vomitus. Future work could also aim to understand how the risk of infection changes when the products contaminated with vomitus, assumed to be disposed of in the current model, are kept and contacted by the susceptible worker. Additional interventions that could be considered by future work in the food production setting include evaluating the effects of increase air exchanges on the risk of infection. As the current model is the only norovirus QMRA model to consider the risk of infection from aerosol and aerosolfomite mediation transmission, future work should aim to evaluate the risk associated with these transmission pathways in additional settings (e.g., hospitals, restaurants, cruise ships).

4.5 Conclusions & Public Health Recommendations

Preventing infection of food production workers is an important step in protecting both workforce health and the integrity of the US food supply. Until this study, modeling work has neglected the risk of norovirus infection to the food production worker, focusing instead on the risk to the consumer. By understanding the risk to the food production worker, we can understand how to reduce the risk of subsequent infections in the food production environment thereby reducing the opportunity for contamination of products and subsequent risk to the consumer.

Our model has identified the risk of norovirus infection to a susceptible food production worker from two different exposure events (fecal, vomit) and associated transmission pathways (fomite, aerosol). We found that exposure to fecal contamination via fomite mediated transmission posed the greatest risk of infection. Exposure to a single projectile vomiting event carried minimal risk of infection to the susceptible food production worker, compared to exposure to norovirus contamination from repeated fecal events. For individual intervention use, surface disinfection proved particularly important for reducing the risk of infection from exposure to fecal contamination, while handwashing provided the greatest risk reduction for exposure to contamination from vomitus. Across both modeled exposure events, combined intervention use (handwashing, gloving, surface disinfection, mask use) was the most effective intervention for reducing the risk of infection.

Our findings highlight the importance of utilizing a set of interventions in the food production environment. Food production facilities should continue to follow FSMA requirements for handwashing and surface disinfection. Based on our results, handwashing should be emphasized after exposure to vomiting events and surface disinfection should be emphasized after fecal events as these individual interventions resulted in the greatest reduction in the risk of infection. Continued mask use, even after the COVID-19 pandemic, if not standard practice, should be implemented in the food production setting as this intervention provides substantial protection from both exposure events and evaluated transmission pathways. In conclusion, by leveraging multiple interventions the risk from different norovirus exposure events can be effectively mitigated thereby protect worker health and maintain the US food supply.

5. Bibliography

1. Hall AJ, Wikswo ME, Manikonda K, Roberts VA, Yoder JS, Gould LH. Acute gastroenteritis surveillance through the National Outbreak Reporting System, United States. Emerg Infect Dis. 2013;19(8):1305-9.

2. Hall AJ, Lopman BA, Payne DC, Patel MM, Gastanaduy PA, Vinje J, et al. Norovirus disease in the United States. Emerg Infect Dis. 2013;19(8):1198-205.

3. Kapikian AZ. The discovery of the 27-nm Norwalk virus: an historic perspective. J Infect Dis. 2000;181 Suppl 2:S295-302.

4. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Outbreak Reporting System (NORS) dashboard [Internet]. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: CDC National Center for Emerging and Zoonotic Infectious Diseases (NCEZID); 2021 [updated 2021; cited 2021 Sep 9]. Available from: <u>https://wwwn.cdc.gov/norsdashboard/</u>.

5. Ahmed SM, Lopman BA, Levy K. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the global seasonality of norovirus. PLoS One. 2013;8(10):e75922.

6. Rohayem J. Norovirus seasonality and the potential impact of climate change. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2009;15(6):524-7.

7. Wikswo ME, Hall AJ, Centers for Disease C, Prevention. Outbreaks of acute gastroenteritis transmitted by person-to-person contact--United States, 2009-2010. MMWR Surveill Summ. 2012;61(9):1-12.

8. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Burden of norovirus illness in the U.S. [Internet]. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases, Division of Viral Diseases; 2021 [updated 2021; cited 2021 Oct 1]. Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/norovirus/trends-outbreaks/burden-US.html</u>.

9. Simmons K, Gambhir M, Leon J, Lopman B. Duration of immunity to norovirus gastroenteritis. Emerg Infect Dis. 2013;19(8):1260-7.

10. Glass RI, Parashar UD, Estes MK. Norovirus gastroenteritis. N Engl J Med. 2009;361(18):1776-85.

11. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. The symptoms of norovirus [Internet]. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases, Division of Viral Diseases; 2021 [updated 2021; cited 2021 Oct 5]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/norovirus/about/symptoms.html.

12. Devasia T, Lopman B, Leon J, Handel A. Association of host, agent and environment characteristics and the duration of incubation and symptomatic periods of norovirus gastroenteritis. Epidemiol Infect. 2015;143(11):2308-14.

13. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Reporting and surveillance for norovirus [Internet]. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases, Division of Viral Diseases; 2021 [updated 2021; cited 2021 Oct 5]. Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/norovirus/reporting/index.html</u>.

14. Marsh Z, Shah MP, Wikswo ME, Barclay L, Kisselburgh H, Kambhampati A, et al. Epidemiology of foodborne norovirus outbreaks - United States, 2009-2015. Food Saf (Tokyo). 2018;6(2):58-66.

15. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Common settings of norovirus outbreaks [Internet]. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases, Division of Viral Diseases; 2021 [updated 2021; cited 2021 Oct 1]. Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/norovirus/trends-outbreaks/outbreaks.html</u>.

16. Mouchtouri VA, Verykouki E, Zamfir D, Hadjipetris C, Lewis HC, Hadjichristodoulou C, et al. Gastroenteritis outbreaks on cruise ships: contributing factors and thresholds for early outbreak detection. Euro Surveill. 2017;22(45).

17. Bhatta MR, Marsh Z, Newman KL, Rebolledo PA, Huey M, Hall AJ, et al. Norovirus outbreaks on college and university campuses. J Am Coll Health. 2020;68(7):688-97.

18. Verhoef L, Hewitt J, Barclay L, Ahmed SM, Lake R, Hall AJ, et al. Norovirus genotype profiles associated with foodborne transmission, 1999-2012. Emerg Infect Dis. 2015;21(4):592-9.

19. Bennett SD, Sodha SV, Ayers TL, Lynch MF, Gould LH, Tauxe RV. Produce-associated foodborne disease outbreaks, USA, 1998-2013. Epidemiol Infect. 2018;146(11):1397-406.

20. Malek M, Barzilay E, Kramer A, Camp B, Jaykus LA, Escudero-Abarca B, et al. Outbreak of norovirus infection among river rafters associated with packaged delicatessen meat, Grand Canyon, 2005. Clin Infect Dis. 2009;48(1):31-7.

21. Friedman DS, Heisey-Grove D, Argyros F, Berl E, Nsubuga J, Stiles T, et al. An outbreak of norovirus gastroenteritis associated with wedding cakes. Epidemiol Infect. 2005;133(6):1057-63.

22. Muller L, Rasmussen LD, Jensen T, Schultz AC, Kjelso C, Barnadas C, et al. Series of norovirus outbreaks caused by consumption of green coral lettuce, Denmark, April 2016. PLoS Curr. 2016;8.

23. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. CDC Telebriefing – New vital signs report: How can we prevent norovirus outbreaks from contaminated food? [Internet]. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: CDC Newsroom; 2021 [updated June 3, 2014; cited 2021 Oct 1]. Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/media/releases/2014/t0603-norovirus.html</u>. 24. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Preventing norovirus outbreaks [Internet]. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases, Division of Viral Diseases; 2021 [updated 2019; cited 2021 Oct 1]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/vitalsigns/norovirus/index.html.

25. Hall AJ, Eisenbart VG, Etingue AL, Gould LH, Lopman BA, Parashar UD. Epidemiology of foodborne norovirus outbreaks, United States, 2001-2008. Emerg Infect Dis. 2012;18(10):1566-73.

26. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. How food gets contaminated - the food production chain [Internet]. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: National Center for Emerging and Zoonotic Infectious Diseases (NCEZID), Division of Foodborne, Waterborne, and Environmental Diseases (DFWED); 2017 [updated 2017; cited 2021 Oct 5]. Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/foodsafety/production-chain.html</u>.

27. Eurostat. From farm to fork - a statistical journey [Internet]. 2021 [updated 2021; cited 2021]. Available from: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-</u> explained/index.php?title=From_farm_to_fork_-_a_statistical_journey.

28. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. How norovirus spreads [Internet]. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases, Division of Viral Diseases; 2021 [updated 2021; cited 2021 Oct 5]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/norovirus/about/transmission.html.

29. Jacxsens L, Stals A, De Keuckelaere A, Deliens B, Rajkovic A, Uyttendaele M. Quantitative farm-to-fork human norovirus exposure assessment of individually quick frozen raspberries and raspberry puree. Int J Food Microbiol. 2017;242:87-97.

30. Bozkurt H, Phan-Thien KY, van Ogtrop F, Bell T, McConchie R. Outbreaks, occurrence, and control of norovirus and hepatitis a virus contamination in berries: a review. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 2021;61(1):116-38.

31. León-Félix J, Martínez-Bustillos RA, Báez-Sañudo M, Peraza-Garay F, Chaidez C. Norovirus contamination of bell pepper from handling during harvesting and packing. Food and Environmental Virology. 2010;2(4):211-7.

32. Van Pelt AE, Quinones B, Lofgren HL, Bartz FE, Newman KL, Leon JS. Low prevalence of human pathogens on fresh produce on farms and in packing facilities: a systematic review. Front Public Health. 2018;6:40.

33. Teunis PF, Moe CL, Liu P, Miller SE, Lindesmith L, Baric RS, et al. Norwalk virus: how infectious is it? J Med Virol. 2008;80(8):1468-76.

34. Lopman B, Atmar R, Baric R, Estes M, Green K, Glass R, et al. Global burden of norovirus and prospects for vaccine development. 2015.

35. Carpenter LR, Green AL, Norton DM, Frick R, Tobin-D'Angelo M, Reimann DW, et al. Food worker experiences with and beliefs about working while ill. J Food Prot. 2013;76(12):2146-54.

36. Bartsch SM, O'Shea KJ, Lee BY. The clinical and economic burden of norovirus gastroenteritis in the United States. J Infect Dis. 2020;222(11):1910-9.

37. Hoffmann S, Maculloch B, Batz M. Economic burden of major foodborne illnesses acquired in the United States. 2015.

38. US Food and Drug Administration. Food safety modernization act (FSMA) [Internet]. fda.gov: US Food and Drug Administration; 2021 [updated 2021; cited 2021 Oct 5]. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/food/guidance-regulation-food-and-dietary-supplements/food-safety-modernization-act-fsma.

39. United States Department of Labor, OSHA. Occupational safety and health standards, personal protective equipment, respiratory protection. 1998.

40. United States Department of Labor, OSHA. Occupational safety and health standards for agriculture, general environmental controls, field sanitation. 1987.

41. US Food and Drug Administration. What the produce safety rule means for consumers [Internet]. fda.gov: US Food and Drug Administration; 2018 [updated 2018; cited 2021 Oct 5]. Available from: <u>https://www.fda.gov/food/food-safety-modernization-act-fsma/what-produce-safety-rule-means-consumers</u>.

42. Occupational Safety and Health Administration. Occupational Safety and Health Administration, Workers' rights. 2017.

43. Aday S, Aday MS. Impact of COVID-19 on the food supply chain. Food Quality and Safety. 2020;4(4):167-80.

44. Stephenson J. COVID-19 outbreaks among food production workers may intensify pandemic's disproportionate effects on people of color. JAMA Health Forum. 2020;1(6):e200783-e.

45. US Food and Drug Administration. TITLE 21--Food And Drugs Chapter I--Food and Drug Administration Department of Health and Human Services Subchapter B - Food for human consumption [Internet]. accessata.fda.gov: US Food and Drug Administration; 2021 [updated 2021; cited 2021 Oct 5]. Available from:

 $\underline{https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cdrh/cfdocs/cfCFR/CFRSearch.cfm?fr=112.31}.$

46. US Public Health Service, US Food and Drug Administration. Food code. 2013.

47. Hall AJ, Wikswo ME, Pringle K, Gould LH, Parashar UD, Division of Viral Diseases NCfI, et al. Vital signs: foodborne norovirus outbreaks - United States, 2009-2012. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2014;63(22):491-5.

48. Yang W, Steele M, Lopman B, Leon JS, Hall AJ. The population-level impacts of excluding norovirus-infected food workers from the workplace: a mathematical modeling study. Am J Epidemiol. 2019;188(1):177-87.

49. Duret S, Pouillot R, Fanaselle W, Papafragkou E, Liggans G, Williams L, et al. Quantitative risk assessment of norovirus transmission in food establishments: Evaluating the impact of intervention strategies and food employee behavior on the risk associated with norovirus in foods. Risk Anal. 2017;37(11):2080-106.

50. Atmar RL, Opekun AR, Gilger MA, Estes MK, Crawford SE, Neill FH, et al. Norwalk virus shedding after experimental human infection. Emerg Infect Dis. 2008;14(10):1553-7.

51. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Preventing norovirus [Internet]. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases, Division of Viral Diseases; 2021 [updated 2021; cited 2021 Oct 5]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/norovirus/about/prevention.html.

52. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Facts facts about norovirus [Internet]. ecdc.europa.eu: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control; 2017 [updated 2017; cited 2021 Oct 1]. Available from: <u>https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/norovirus-infection/facts</u>.

53. Bitler EJ, Matthews JE, Dickey BW, Eisenberg JN, Leon JS. Norovirus outbreaks: a systematic review of commonly implicated transmission routes and vehicles. Epidemiol Infect. 2013;141(8):1563-71.

54. Lopman B, Gastanaduy P, Park GW, Hall AJ, Parashar UD, Vinje J. Environmental transmission of norovirus gastroenteritis. Curr Opin Virol. 2012;2(1):96-102.

55. Verhoef L, Kouyos RD, Vennema H, Kroneman A, Siebenga J, van Pelt W, et al. An integrated approach to identifying international foodborne norovirus outbreaks. Emerg Infect Dis. 2011;17(3):412-8.

56. Maunula L, Miettinen IT, von Bonsdorff CH. Norovirus outbreaks from drinking water. Emerg Infect Dis. 2005;11(11):1716-21.

57. El-Senousy WM, Costafreda MI, Pinto RM, Bosch A. Method validation for norovirus detection in naturally contaminated irrigation water and fresh produce. Int J Food Microbiol. 2013;167(1):74-9.

58. de Graaf M, van Beek J, Koopmans MP. Human norovirus transmission and evolution in a changing world. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2016;14(7):421-33.

59. Seitz SR, Leon JS, Schwab KJ, Lyon GM, Dowd M, McDaniels M, et al. Norovirus infectivity in humans and persistence in water. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2011;77(19):6884-8.

60. Kimura H, Nagano K, Kimura N, Shimizu M, Ueno Y, Morikane K, et al. A norovirus outbreak associated with environmental contamination at a hotel. Epidemiol Infect. 2011;139(2):317-25.

61. Cheesbrough JS, Green J, Gallimore CI, Wright PA, Brown DW. Widespread environmental contamination with Norwalk-like viruses (NLV) detected in a prolonged hotel outbreak of gastroenteritis. Epidemiol Infect. 2000;125(1):93-8.

62. Wu HM, Fornek M, Schwab KJ, Chapin AR, Gibson K, Schwab E, et al. A norovirus outbreak at a long-term-care facility: the role of environmental surface contamination. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2005;26(10):802-10.

63. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Norovirus outbreak in an elementary school--District of Columbia, February 2007. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2008;56(51-52):1340-3.

64. Isakbaeva ET, Widdowson MA, Beard RS, Bulens SN, Mullins J, Monroe SS, et al. Norovirus transmission on cruise ship. Emerg Infect Dis. 2005;11(1):154-8.

65. Cheesbrough JS, Barkess-Jones L, Brown DW. Possible prolonged environmental survival of small round structured viruses. J Hosp Infect. 1997;35(4):325-6.

66. Marks PJ, Vipond IB, Carlisle D, Deakin D, Fey RE, Caul EO. Evidence for airborne transmission of Norwalk-like virus (NLV) in a hotel restaurant. Epidemiol Infect. 2000;124(3):481-7.

67. Bonifait L, Charlebois R, Vimont A, Turgeon N, Veillette M, Longtin Y, et al. Detection and quantification of airborne norovirus during outbreaks in healthcare facilities. Clin Infect Dis. 2015;61(3):299-304.

68. Alsved M, Fraenkel CJ, Bohgard M, Widell A, Soderlund-Strand A, Lanbeck P, et al. Sources of airborne norovirus in hospital outbreaks. Clin Infect Dis. 2020;70(10):2023-8.

69. Sawyer LA, Murphy JJ, Kaplan JE, Pinsky PF, Chacon D, Walmsley S, et al. 25- to 30nm virus particle associated with a hospital outbreak of acute gastroenteritis with evidence for airborne transmission. Am J Epidemiol. 1988;127(6):1261-71.

70. Missouri Department of Health & Senior Services. What is a food manufacturing/processing facility? [Internet]. [cited 2021 Oct 5]. Available from: <u>https://mohealth.uservoice.com/knowledgebase/articles/1199026-what-is-a-food-manufacturing-processing-facility</u>. 71. Produce Safety Alliance. Food satefy modernization act [Internet]. cornell.edu: Cornell college of agriculture and life sciences; 2021 [updated 2021; cited 2021 Oct 5]. Available from: https://producesafetyalliance.cornell.edu/food-safety-modernization-act/.

72. Mokhtari A, Jaykus LA. Quantitative exposure model for the transmission of norovirus in retail food preparation. Int J Food Microbiol. 2009;133(1-2):38-47.

73. Sobolik JS, Newman KL, Jaykus LA, Bihn EA, Leon JS. Norovirus transmission mitigation strategies during simulated produce harvest and packing. Int J Food Microbiol. 2021;357:109365.

74. Brouwer AF, Masters NB, Eisenberg JNS. Quantitative microbial risk assessment and infectious disease transmission modeling of waterborne enteric pathogens. Curr Environ Health Rep. 2018;5(2):293-304.

75. Pang H, Lambertini E, Buchanan RL, Schaffner DW, Pradhan AK. Quantitative microbial risk assessment for escherichia coli O157:H7 in fresh-cut lettuce. J Food Prot. 2017;80(2):302-11.

76. Bouwknegt M, Verhaelen K, Rzezutka A, Kozyra I, Maunula L, von Bonsdorff CH, et al. Quantitative farm-to-fork risk assessment model for norovirus and hepatitis A virus in European leafy green vegetable and berry fruit supply chains. Int J Food Microbiol. 2015;198:50-8.

77. Mok HF, Barker SF, Hamilton AJ. A probabilistic quantitative microbial risk assessment model of norovirus disease burden from wastewater irrigation of vegetables in Shepparton, Australia. Water Res. 2014;54:347-62.

78. Carducci A, Donzelli G, Cioni L, Verani M. Quantitative microbial risk assessment in occupational settings applied to the airborne human adenovirus infection. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2016;13(7).

79. Sobolik JS, Sajewski ET, Jaykus LA, Cooper DK, Lopman BA, Kraay ANM, et al. Controlling risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection in essential workers of enclosed food manufacturing facilities. Food Control. 2022;133:108632.

80. Sobolik JS, Sajewski ET, Jaykus LA, Cooper DK, Lopman BA, Kraay ANM, et al. Decontamination of SARS-CoV-2 from cold-chain food packaging provides no marginal benefit in risk reduction to food workers. Food Control. 2022;136:108845.

81. Laboratory for Infectious Disease and the Environment. Quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA) [Internet]. usgs.gov: U.S. Geological Survey; 2016 [updated 2016; cited 2021 Oct 5]. Available from: <u>https://www.usgs.gov/centers/umid-water/science/lide-capabilities-quantitative-microbial-risk?qt-science_center_objects=0#qt-science_center_objects</u>.

82. Minnesota Department of Health. Quantitative microbial risk assessment basics [Internet]. health.state.mn.us: Minnesota Department of Health; 2021 [updated 2021; cited 2021] Oct 5]. Available from:

https://www.health.state.mn.us/communities/environment/risk/guidance/dwec/basics.html#expassess.

83. Zwieterin MH, van Gerwen SJ. Sensitivity analysis in quantitative microbial risk assessment. Int J Food Microbiol. 2000;58(3):213-21.

84. Itoh S, Zhou L. Effect of unboiled water consumption data on sensitivity analysis in quantitative microbial risk assessment. npj Clean Water. 2018;1(1):18.

85. Chen YH, Yan C, Yang YF, Ma JX. Quantitative microbial risk assessment and sensitivity analysis for workers exposed to pathogenic bacterial bioaerosols under various aeration modes in two wastewater treatment plants. Sci Total Environ. 2021;755(Pt 2):142615.

86. Bruggink LD, Garcia-Clapes A, Tran T, Druce JD, Thorley BR. Decreased incidence of enterovirus and norovirus infections during the COVID-19 pandemic, Victoria, Australia, 2020. Commun Dis Intell (2018). 2021;45.

87. Kraay ANM, Han P, Kambhampati AK, Wikswo ME, Mirza SA, Lopman BA. Impact of nonpharmaceutical interventions for severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 on norovirus outbreaks: an analysis of outbreaks reported by 9 US states. J Infect Dis. 2021;224(1):9-13.

88. Makison Booth C. Vomiting Larry: a simulated vomiting system for assessing environmental contamination from projectile vomiting related to norovirus infection. J Infect Prev. 2014;15(5):176-80.

89. Zhang X, Ji Z, Yue Y, Liu H, Wang J. Infection risk assessment of COVID-19 through aerosol transmission: a case study of South China seafood market. Environ Sci Technol. 2021;55(7):4123-33.

90. Barker J, Vipond IB, Bloomfield SF. Effects of cleaning and disinfection in reducing the spread of Norovirus contamination via environmental surfaces. J Hosp Infect. 2004;58(1):42-9.

91. Magulski T, Paulmann D, Bischoff B, Becker B, Steinmann E, Steinmann J, et al. Inactivation of murine norovirus by chemical biocides on stainless steel. BMC Infectious Diseases. 2009;9(1):107.

92. Pouillot R, Delignette-Muller ML. Evaluating variability and uncertainty separately in microbial quantitative risk assessment using two R packages. Int J Food Microbiol. 2010;142(3):330-40.

93. Atmar RL, Opekun AR, Gilger MA, Estes MK, Crawford SE, Neill FH, et al. Determination of the 50% human infectious dose for Norwalk virus. J Infect Dis. 2014;209(7):1016-22.

94. Kirby AE, Shi J, Montes J, Lichtenstein M, Moe CL. Disease course and viral shedding in experimental Norwalk virus and Snow Mountain virus infection. J Med Virol. 2014;86(12):2055-64.

95. Kirby AE, Streby A, Moe CL. Vomiting as a symptom and transmission risk in norovirus illness: Evidence from human challenge studies. PLoS One. 2016;11(4):e0143759.

96. Tung-Thompson G, Libera DA, Koch KL, de Los Reyes FL, 3rd, Jaykus LA. Aerosolization of a human norovirus surrogate, bacteriophage MS2, during simulated vomiting. PLoS One. 2015;10(8):e0134277.

97. Stals A, Jacxsens L, Baert L, Van Coillie E, Uyttendaele M. A quantitative exposure model simulating human norovirus transmission during preparation of deli sandwiches. Int J Food Microbiol. 2015;196:126-36.

98. Stals A, Uyttendaele M, Baert L, Van Coillie E. Norovirus transfer between foods and food contact materials. J Food Prot. 2013;76(7):1202-9.

99. Bidawid S, Malik N, Adegbunrin O, Sattar SA, Farber JM. Norovirus crosscontamination during food handling and interruption of virus transfer by hand antisepsis: experiments with feline calicivirus as a surrogate. J Food Prot. 2004;67(1):103-9.

100. Ronnqvist M, Aho E, Mikkela A, Ranta J, Tuominen P, Ratto M, et al. Norovirus transmission between hands, gloves, utensils, and fresh produce during simulated food handling. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2014;80(17):5403-10.

101. Sharps CP, Kotwal G, Cannon JL. Human norovirus transfer to stainless steel and small fruits during handling. J Food Prot. 2012;75(8):1437-46.

102. Pitol AK, Bischel HN, Kohn T, Julian TR. Virus transfer at the skin-liquid interface. Environ Sci Technol. 2017;51(24):14417-25.

103. Liu LJ, Liu W, Liu YX, Xiao HJ, Jia N, Liu G, et al. Identification of norovirus as the top enteric viruses detected in adult cases with acute gastroenteritis. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2010;82(4):717-22.

104. Lages SL, Ramakrishnan MA, Goyal SM. In-vivo efficacy of hand sanitisers against feline calicivirus: a surrogate for norovirus. J Hosp Infect. 2008;68(2):159-63.

105. Grove SF, Suriyanarayanan A, Puli B, Zhao H, Li M, Li D, et al. Norovirus crosscontamination during preparation of fresh produce. Int J Food Microbiol. 2015;198:43-9.

106. Kramer A, Galabov AS, Sattar SA, Dohner L, Pivert A, Payan C, et al. Virucidal activity of a new hand disinfectant with reduced ethanol content: comparison with other alcohol-based formulations. J Hosp Infect. 2006;62(1):98-106.

107. Macinga DR, Sattar SA, Jaykus LA, Arbogast JW. Improved inactivation of nonenveloped enteric viruses and their surrogates by a novel alcohol-based hand sanitizer. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2008;74(16):5047-52.

108. Kampf G, Grotheer D, Steinmann J. Efficacy of three ethanol-based hand rubs against feline calicivirus, a surrogate virus for norovirus. J Hosp Infect. 2005;60(2):144-9.

109. Doultree JC, Druce JD, Birch CJ, Bowden DS, Marshall JA. Inactivation of feline calicivirus, a Norwalk virus surrogate. J Hosp Infect. 1999;41(1):51-7.

110. Duizer E, Bijkerk P, Rockx B, De Groot A, Twisk F, Koopmans M. Inactivation of caliciviruses. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2004;70(8):4538-43.

111. Sattar SA, Ansari SA. The fingerpad protocol to assess hygienic hand antiseptics against viruses. J Virol Methods. 2002;103(2):171-81.

112. Tuladhar E, Hazeleger WC, Koopmans M, Zwietering MH, Duizer E, Beumer RR. Reducing viral contamination from finger pads: handwashing is more effective than alcoholbased hand disinfectants. J Hosp Infect. 2015;90(3):226-34.

113. Fischer EP, Fischer MC, Grass D, Henrion I, Warren WS, Westman E. Low-cost measurement of face mask efficacy for filtering expelled droplets during speech. Sci Adv. 2020;6(36).

114. Konda A, Prakash A, Moss GA, Schmoldt M, Grant GD, Guha S. Aerosol filtration efficiency of common fabrics used in respiratory cloth masks. ACS Nano. 2020;14(5):6339-47.

115. Lindsley WG, Blachere FM, Law BF, Beezhold DH, Noti JD. Efficacy of face masks, neck gaiters and face shields for reducing the expulsion of simulated cough-generated aerosols. medRxiv. 2020:2020.10.05.20207241.

116. Arias C, Sala MR, Dominguez A, Torner N, Ruiz L, Martinez A, et al. Epidemiological and clinical features of norovirus gastroenteritis in outbreaks: a population-based study. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2010;16(1):39-44.

117. Lucas TL, Mustain R, Goldsby RE. Frequency of face touching with and without a mask in pediatric hematology/oncology health care professionals. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2020;67(9):e28593.

118. Messner MJ, Berger P, Nappier SP. Fractional poisson--a simple dose-response model for human norovirus. Risk Anal. 2014;34(10):1820-9.

119. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. General information about norovirus [Internet]. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: National Center for Emerging and Zoonotic Infectious Diseases (NCEZID), Division of Healthcare Quality Promotion (DHQP); 2010 [updated 2010; cited 2022 Jan 6]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/hai/organisms/norovirus.html.

120. Heijne JC, Teunis P, Morroy G, Wijkmans C, Oostveen S, Duizer E, et al. Enhanced hygiene measures and norovirus transmission during an outbreak. Emerg Infect Dis. 2009;15(1):24-30.

121. Barclay L, Park GW, Vega E, Hall A, Parashar U, Vinje J, et al. Infection control for norovirus. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2014;20(8):731-40.

122. Overbey KN, Hamra GB, Nachman KE, Rock C, Schwab KJ. Quantitative microbial risk assessment of human norovirus infection in environmental service workers due to healthcare-associated fomites. J Hosp Infect. 2021;117:52-64.

123. Adams C, Young D, Gastanaduy PA, Paul P, Marsh Z, Hall AJ, et al. Quantifying the roles of vomiting, diarrhea, and residents vs. staff in norovirus transmission in U.S. nursing home outbreaks. PLoS Comput Biol. 2020;16(3):e1007271.

124. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Guidance for wearing masks [Internet]. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases (NCIRD), Division of Viral Diseases; 2022 [updated 2022; cited 2022 Feb 17]. Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/prevent-getting-sick/cloth-face-cover-</u>

guidance.html#:~:text=Masks%20should%20still%20be%20worn,sides%20of%20face%20witho ut%20gaps.

125. World Health Organization. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) advice for the public: When and how to use masks [Internet]. who.int: World Health Organization; 2021 [updated 2021; cited 2022 Feb 17]. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/advice-for-public/when-and-how-to-use-masks</u>.

126. Wilson AM, Reynolds KA, Sexton JD, Canales RA. Modeling surface disinfection needs to meet microbial risk reduction targets. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2018;84(18).

127. US Food and Drug Administration. Use of respirators, facemasks, and cloth face coverings in the food and agriculture sector during coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic [Internet]. fda.gov: US Food and Drug Administration; 2020 [updated 2020; cited 2022 Feb 17]. Available from: <u>https://www.fda.gov/food/food-safety-during-emergencies/use-respirators-facemasks-and-cloth-face-coverings-food-and-agriculture-sector-during-coronavirus.</u>

128. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Meat and poultry processing workers and employers [Internet]. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases (NCIRD), Division of Viral Diseases; 2021 [updated 2021; cited 2022 Feb 17]. Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/community/organizations/meat-poultry-processing-workers-employers.html</u>.

129. Chen Y-J, Qin G, Chen J, Xu J-L, Feng D-Y, Wu X-Y, et al. Comparison of facetouching behaviors before and during the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic. JAMA Network Open. 2020;3(7):e2016924-e.

130. Canales RA, Reynolds KA, Wilson AM, Fankem SLM, Weir MH, Rose JB, et al. Modeling the role of fomites in a norovirus outbreak. J Occup Environ Hyg. 2019;16(1):16-26.

131. Lee N, Chan MC, Wong B, Choi KW, Sin W, Lui G, et al. Fecal viral concentration and diarrhea in norovirus gastroenteritis. Emerg Infect Dis. 2007;13(9):1399-401.

132. Chan MC, Sung JJ, Lam RK, Chan PK, Lee NL, Lai RW, et al. Fecal viral load and norovirus-associated gastroenteritis. Emerg Infect Dis. 2006;12(8):1278-80.

133. U.S Environmental Protection Agency. Exposure factors handbook: 2011 edition: US Environ Prot Agency; 2011 [1-1466:[

134. Kraay ANM, Hayashi MAL, Hernandez-Ceron N, Spicknall IH, Eisenberg MC, Meza R, et al. Fomite-mediated transmission as a sufficient pathway: a comparative analysis across three viral pathogens. BMC Infect Dis. 2018;18(1):540.

6. Tables and Figures

Table 1. Parameters, values, and probability distributions used in the QMRA models.

Variable Notation	Units	Description	Input Values	Distribution	References
Inputs associat or vomitus	ed with norovirus vira	al load and contami	nation of surfaces, r	oom air, and worke	r hands with infectious fecal matter
nvf	Virions/gram	Concentration of norovirus in feces [virions/gram]	min= 100, mode= 1,000,000, max= 100,000,000, (shape = 10)	Beta-Pert	[49, 50, 72, 94, 131, 132]
mfh	grams/hand	Mass of feces/hand	min=0.00000001, mode=0.0001, max=0.1	Triangle	[76]
IW.Br	count	Number of defecations per shift	4	Point estimate	[49, 72, 116]
nvV	log10(virions)/mL	Concentration of norovirus in vomit	min=3, mode=4.5, max=7	Beta-Pert	[49, 93, 95]
volV	mL	Volume of vomit expelled	min= 200, mode=500, max=800	Triangle	[88, 96]

NumV	count	Number of vomit events per-shift	1	Point estimate	Assumed
pctaero	proportion	percent aerosolization of total virus vomited	0.03%	Point estimate	[96]
dpa	cm	particle size	min = 0.000095, mode=0.000178, max = 0.000451	Triangle	[68]
VS	m/s	settling velocity for a single NoV particle	4.7 x 10^-8	Point estimate	[96]
dep	Proportion	Deposition fraction of virus into the mouth, nose, and conducting airways	min = 0.1, max = 0.3	Uniform	[68]
inhalerate	m ³ /hour	Inhalation rate per hour	min=1.62, max=3.18	Uniform	[133]

Trhg	Proportion	Proportion of norovirus transfer per touch from contaminated bare hand to glove	min=0, max=0.44	Uniform	[100]
Trhdoor	Proportion	transfer from hand or glove to door handle	min=0.094, max=0.166	Uniform	[97-99, 101, 134]
Trdoorh	Proportion	transfer from door handle to hand or glove	min=0.051, max=0.089	Uniform	[97-99, 101, 134]
Trhp	Proportion	transfer from hand or glove to package	min=0.37, mode=0.53, max =0.69	Triangle	[101]
Trph	Proportion	transfer from package to hand or glove	min=0.14, mode=0.20, max =0.26	Triangle	[101]

Trhbr	Proportion	Transfer from hands to restroom environment	min=0.001, mode=0.13, max=0.27	Triangle	[97]
Trbr	Proportion	Transfer from restroom environment to hands	min=0.036, mode=0.07, max=0.22	Triangle	[97]
Trbh	Proportion	Transfer from conveyor belt to hands or gloves	min=0.036, mode=0.07, max=0.22	Triangle	[97]
Trhface	Proportion	Transfer from hand to face	min=0.137, mode = 0.20, max = 0.263	Triangle	[102]
decayH	Minute ⁻¹	Inactivation of particles on hands per minute	min=0, max=0.01783	Uniform	[134]
decayDr	Minute ⁻¹	Inactivation of particles on door handle per minute	min=0.00002, max=0.0096	Uniform	[134]
Inputs associated with worker health and hygiene behavior (handwashing compliance and efficacy, glove use, surface disinfection, mask use)

hweff	% reduction	Handwashing removal efficacy	min=.90, mode=0.96, max=0.99 or min=.99, mode=0.99999, max=0.9999999	Triangle	[72, 103-112]
Freq.hw	HW/hour	Frequency of handwashing per hour	1	Point estimate	Assumed
Freq.glove	Glove/hour	Frequency of glove changes per hour	1	Point estimate	Assumed
sc.eff.p	% reduction	Surface disinfection of door handle in fecal scenario	min=0.9, max=0.99	Uniform	[90]

clean.eff	% reduction	Surface disinfection of conveyor belt in vomit scenario	Baseline: 10% Intervention: 90%	Point estimate	Assumed
s.mask.p	% reduction	Susceptible worker surgical mask efficacy vomit scenario	min=0.37, max=0.998	Uniform	[114, 115]

Inputs associated with dose-response and risk characterization for the susceptible worker

μ	Mean aggregate size	min=399, mode=1106, max=2428	Triangle	[118]
Р	Dose-response: probability of infection among susceptible subjects	min=0.63, mode=0.722, max=0.8	Triangle	[118]



Figure 1. Norovirus QMRA schematic for fecal and vomit exposure pathways

Figure 1. Norovirus QMRA schematic for (A) fecal and (B) vomit events to assess infection risk from fomite (fecal and vomit events) and aerosol (vomit event) transmission pathways. The steps of each transmission pathway from infected worker (black person on left) to susceptible worker (blue person on right) are displayed in the blue boxes with the blue arrows indicating the flow from one step to the next. Mitigation measures (hand hygiene, surface disinfection, masking, air exchange) acting at various points along the exposure pathway are depicted in the gray boxes with the red connectors indicating at which step they are implemented. The red arrows represent the viral decay that occurs at the specified step in the transmission pathway.



Figure 2. Risk of norovirus infection across two modeled exposure pathways.

Figure 2. Risk of norovirus infection varies across transmission route (aerosol, fomite-mediated). The Y-axis represents the risk of norovirus infection for a susceptible worker downstream of an individual infected worker on the production line who experiences a (A) fecal event or a (B) vomit event. Each norovirus transmission pathway assessed per modeled scenario is listed in the legend to the right and represented by each boxplot. Boxplots display the 5th and 95th percentiles (whiskers), 25th and 75th percentiles (boxes), and median (middle line) risk of infection. Below each boxplot is the median infection risk.



Figure 3. Reduction in norovirus infection risk attributed to hand hygiene interventions

Figure 3. Reduction in norovirus infection risk attributed to hand hygiene interventions (handwashing practices, glove utilization, or both) varies by intervention type. The Y-axis represents the risk of norovirus infection for a susceptible worker downstream of an individual infected worker on the production line who experiences a (A) fecal event or a (B) vomit event. The darkest boxplot represents no interventions, and each subsequent boxplot represents the cumulative risk of infection after hand hygiene intervention implementation. Boxplots display the 5th and 95th percentiles (whiskers), 25th and 75th percentiles (boxes), and median (middle line) risk of infection. Below each boxplot is the percentage infection risk reduction attributed to each intervention.



Figure 4. Reduction in norovirus infection risk attributed to surface disinfection

Figure 4. Reduction in norovirus infection risk attributed to surface disinfection variers by frequency (daily, every 4 hours, every 2 hours). and efficacy The Y-axis represents the risk of norovirus infection for a susceptible worker downstream of an individual infected worker on the production line who experiences a (A) fecal event or a (B) vomit event. The darkest boxplot represents the cumulative risk infection without interventions and each subsequent boxplot represents the cumulative risk of infection after surface disinfection. The frequency of surface disinfection for (A) is listed in the legend to the right for and represented by each boxplot. For (B) Baseline Disinfection represents a 10% reduction in total norovirus contamination while Increased Efficacy Disinfection represents a 90% reduction in total norovirus contamination. Boxplots display the 5th and 95th percentiles (whiskers), 25th and 75th percentiles (boxes), and median (middle line) risk of infection. Below each boxplot is the percentage infection risk reduction attributed to each frequency or increased efficacy of surface disinfection.



Figure 5. Reduction in norovirus infection risk attributed to use of a surgical face mask

Figure 5. Reduction in norovirus infection risk attributed to surgical face mask wearing by the susceptible worker per

modeled scenario. The Y-axis represents the risk of norovirus infection for a susceptible worker downstream of an individual infected worker on the production line who experiences a (A) fecal event or a (B) vomit event. For each panel, the darkest boxplot represents the cumulative risk of infection without any interventions, while the lightest boxplot representing the cumulative risk of infection for a susceptible working wearing a surgical face mask. Boxplots display the 5th and 95th percentiles (whiskers), 25th and 75th percentiles (boxes), and median (middle line) risk of infection. Below each boxplot is the percentage infection risk reduction attributed to wearing a surgical grade face mask.



Figure 6. Reduction in norovirus infection risk attributed to use of combined interventions

Figure 6. Reduction in norovirus infection risk attributed to combined intervention use by the susceptible worker per modeled scenario. The Y-axis represents the risk of norovirus infection for a susceptible worker downstream of an individual infected worker on the production line who experiences a (A) fecal event or a (B) vomit event. For each panel, the darkest boxplot represents the cumulative risk of infection without any interventions, while the lightest boxplot representing the cumulative risk of infection for a susceptible working utilizing the combined interventions. Boxplots display the 5th and 95th percentiles (whiskers), 25th and 75th percentiles (boxes), and median (middle line) risk of infection. Below each boxplot is the percentage infection risk reduction attributed to using the combined interventions.

Figure 7. Fecal Event Module Spearman's Rho Correlation Coefficients



Spearman's Rho Statistic

Figure 7. Fecal event module spearman's rho correlation coefficients. Spearman's rho correlation coefficients were calculated to assess the accumulation of variability across 10,000 model simulations. The parameters associated with an increased risk of norovirus infection are represented by the bars extending from 0 toward 1. The parameters associated with a decreased risk of norovirus infection represented by the bars extending from 0 toward -1. Parameters that were point estimates had no variability across model simulations and thus the variability attributed to these parameters could not be evaluated.



Figure 8. Vomit Event Module Spearman's Rho Correlation Coefficients

Figure 8. Vomit event module spearman's rho correlation coefficients. Spearman's rho correlation coefficients were calculated to assess the accumulation of variability across 10,000 model simulations. The parameters associated with an increased risk of norovirus infection are represented by the bars extending from 0 toward 1. The parameters associated with a decreased risk of norovirus infection represented by the bars extending from 0 toward -1. Parameters that were point estimates had no variability across model simulations and thus the variability attributed to these parameters could not be evaluated.